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DAY 2 – 4 DECEMBER 2015 

 

  [1.59 pm] 

 

SJH:   Yes, good afternoon, please be seated.  Mr Winchester? 5 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Good afternoon, sir, members of the Panel.  Now, 

Mr Leslie, my learned friend, is going to lead Mr Gledhill with our 

leave, sir. 

 10 

SJH:   Thank you.  

 

MR LESLIE:   Thank you, sir.  One issue that was discussed on Wednesday 

was that the Council hadn’t actually had an opportunity to present its 

opening legal submissions, would it be helpful to go through those in 15 

detail? 

 

  [2.00 pm] 

 

SJH:   We have them in writing, but by all means to speak to them. 20 

 

MR LESLIE:   Certainly, sir.  Perhaps there is just one issue that would be 

worth highlighting and that is at section 3 of the opening legal 

submissions. 

 25 

SJH:   Yes. 

 

MR LESLIE:   And that concerns the case of the Ouruhia Residents and so just 

at 3.1, sir, we have just highlighted what the submission point that the 

residents have sought is just in some detail there.  And Mr Gledhill’s 30 

evidence disagrees with the submission point and his evidence is that 

the New Zealand standard is the most appropriate standard to control 

matters of radio frequency.   

 

 And just at paragraph 3.3, the Ouruhia Residents have filed a number 35 

of statements of evidence.  It is submitted that these statements are of 

limited value to the Panel as they either do not relate to the submission 

of the Ouruhia Residents or the outcomes sought in that submission, 

they are of limited relevance to the matters within the jurisdiction of the 

Panel or they are not statements of expert evidence from appropriately 40 

qualified witnesses, sir. 

 

SJH:   Sorry, just pause.  Would the baseball hat come off please? 

 

MR……….:   Oh, yes. 45 
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SJH:   Thank you.   

 

MR LESLIE:   And while some of the material may perhaps provide some sort 

of context to the concerns of the residents, the Council’s position is 

ultimately that a lot of that material is not relevant to the matters that 5 

are within the jurisdiction of the Panel, sir.  And Mr Gledhill, I note, 

has had an opportunity to consider all of the material that has been filed 

by the residents and he has responded to some of that material in 

rebuttal evidence, and he will provide a brief summary of that in his 

highlights package, sir.  I guess that is all I would say at this point, sir, 10 

but if you have any questions I am happy to answer them. 

 

SJH:   All right.  I will just see if the Panel has some questions.   

 

MS HURIA:   No, sir. 15 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   No questions. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Nothing for me, thank you Mr Leslie. 

 20 

SJH:   All right, thank you, may proceed to your first witness then. 

 

MR LESLIE:   Okay, I call Mr Gledhill please. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 25 
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<MARTIN DAVID GLEDHILL, affirmed [2.02 pm] 
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SJH:   Now, just before you start, let me clarify something.  Ms Grey, you are 

appearing for the residents group? 

 

MS GREY:   Yes, sir. 

 5 

SJH:   Does that include Ms Hargreaves? 

 

MS HARGREAVES:   Yes, all of us, we are all the residents. 

 

SJH:   So you will be the one doing the questioning on behalf of everybody? 10 

 

MS GREY:   Yes, sir 

 

SJH:   Yes, thank you.   

 15 

MS GREY:   Thank you. 

 

SJH:   Yes, Mr Leslie. 

 

<EXAMINATION BY MR LESLIE [2.03 pm] 20 

 

MR LESLIE:   Thank you, sir.  Good afternoon, Mr Gledhill.  Can you confirm 

that your full name is Martin David Gledhill and that you have the 

qualifications and experience set out in your evidence-in-chief? 

 25 

MR GLEDHILL:   I do. 

 

MR LESLIE:    And that you have prepared a statement of evidence dated 

4 November 2015 and a statement of rebuttal evidence dated 

3 December 2015? 30 

 

MR GLEDHILL:   I have. 

 

MR LESLIE:    Do you have any amendments or corrections to make to those 

statements of evidence? 35 

 

MR GLEDHILL:   No. 

 

MR LESLIE:    So can you confirm that they are true and correct to the best of 

your knowledge and belief? 40 

 

MR GLEDHILL:   I can. 

 

MR LESLIE:    Thank you.  I understand you have prepared a short summary 

statement which includes a brief comment on the material filed by the 45 

Ouruhia Residents so if you could just present that to the Panel and 
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remain for any questions from the Panel or from my learned friends, 

thank you. 

 

MR GLEDHILL:   So my evidence covers the extremely low frequency 

electric and magnetic fields which are present around any electrical 5 

cabling and equipment, including electrical infrastructure, domestic 

wiring and appliances, and also the radio frequency fields produced by 

all sorts of radio transmitter. 

 

 Potential health effects of both have been studied extensively for many 10 

years.  ELF fields were the subjects of a comprehensive review 

published by the World Health Organisation in 2007.  In common with 

many previous reviews the World Health Organisation concluded that 

while population based studies suggest there could be a small increased 

risk of leukaemia in children with long term, that is over periods of 15 

years, average exposure to relatively strong magnetic fields there were 

weaknesses in the studies which could help account for the apparent 

correlation and there was no good support from laboratory research.   

 

  [2.05 pm] 20 

 

 The WHO recommended the use of exposure guidelines published by 

organisations such as the International Commission on Non-ionising 

Radiation Protection or ICNIRP to protect against the known effects of 

very strong fields and very low cost measures to reduce exposures.  25 

The WHO did not support any arbitrary lowering of exposure limits in 

the name of precaution.   

 

 Research carried out since that 2007 WHO review was published has 

not changed the overall picture.  The WHO recommendations are 30 

supported by the Ministry of Health and they are picked up in the 

National Policy Statement on Electricity Transmission.   

 

 In my evidence I made two recommendations, one that the limit for 

magnetic fields in public areas produced by electricity infrastructure 35 

should be 200 microtesla as currently recommended by ICNIRP and, 

secondly, there should be some provision to give effect to the 

recommendation from WHO and in the National Policy Statement on 

transmission to take very low cost measures to reduce exposures.  

ICNIRP considers that the 200 microtesla limit provides the same level 40 

of protection as their previous recommendation of 100 microtesla 

because both levels are set well below that at which any effects might 

occur.  And the Ministry of Health and the Interagency Committee on 

the Health Effects of Non-ionising Fields which provides technical 

advice in this area to the Ministry agree that it is an appropriate limit. 45 

 



 Page 56 

  

Ch11: Utilities, Energy and Infrastructure – Stage 2 Commenced 02.12.15 

 With regard to the recommendation to take very low cost measures to 

reduce exposures it appears that to date this requirement of the National 

Policy Statement has not yet been picked up in any district plans.  In 

addition there is no reason why it should not apply to electric power 

distribution companies, for example, which may erect lines with similar 5 

characteristics to those installed by Transpower. 

 

 Since I prepared my evidence and in the hearing on Wednesday I was 

aware of discussion over the desirability of corridors for transmission 

lines.  In my opinion the question over possible health effects adds 10 

some weight in favour of a corridor as that is a means to reduce 

exposures within which no residential development is permitted but it 

is not necessarily a standalone argument for a corridor, it is something 

that would add weight to an argument in favour of one. 

 15 

 With regard to radio frequency fields the WHO is currently preparing a 

review of the research on the health effects of these.  In the meantime 

however a number of national and international health and scientific 

bodies have prepared their own reviews over the years and there is 

about three or four per year published. 20 

 

 The findings of reviews published from 2012 to early 2015 are 

summarised in the Ministry of Health’s Interagency Committee on the 

Health Effects of Non-ionising Fields Report to Ministers which was 

attached to my evidence-in-chief.  While some of the reports note that 25 

that there could be fine tuning of the RF field limits recommended in 

the New Zealand exposure standard, and those limits are adopted from 

limits recommended by ICNIRP in 1998 and reaffirmed by them in 

2009, they find that the underlying basis of the limits is still sound.   

 30 

 In addition to compliance with the numerical limits the New Zealand 

Radio Frequency Field Exposure Standard also requires that 

unnecessary exposures to RF fields be minimised so this is, if you like, 

the equivalent of the very low cost measures for ELF fields.  

Effectively it means that if there are choices available when installing 35 

or planning a transmitter those resulting in the lowest exposure should 

be chosen, all other things being equal. 

 

 Some countries have nevertheless adopted lower limits than those used 

in New Zealand and indeed in many other countries.  In some countries 40 

the lower limits are applied everywhere while in others they are only 

applied in what are considered to be sensitive areas such as homes, 

schools, playgrounds.  They are generally described as precautionary 

limits and are often chosen based on what can be achieved and on what 

exposures already exist, rather than falling out of an analysis of the 45 

health literature. 
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 And in my evidence-in-chief I note that having lower limits does not 

appear to affect exposure levels when compared with the exposure 

levels in countries that have limits based on the ethnic 

recommendations. 5 

 

  [2.10 pm] 

 

 In my evidence, I reserve judgement on whether to recommend citing 

AS NZS277.2.2 2011, as the basis for undertaking exposure 10 

assessments or a revised version of that Standard which will come out 

following the revision, which is currently in progress and actually 

reaching the end of that provision process. 

 

 Public comments received on the draft, either corrected on the draft of 15 

that 2772.2 Standard either corrected typographical or other mistakes or 

saw to make some parts of the Standard easier to follow, especially 

there is one appendix concerned with the calculation of exposures close 

to dish antennas. 

 20 

 I now propose that the revised version of the Standard, when it is 

published, which will probably be early 2016, be cited in any relevant 

rules. 

 

 In my evidence I made several recommendations including separation 25 

of the rules concerning ELF fields from those about RF, the radio 

frequency fields.  I discussed earlier the recommendations about the 

ELF fields from the electrical infrastructure and changing the limit, and 

also I recommended changing the rules for radio transmitters to more 

closely followed wording of the National Environmental Standard for 30 

telecommunication facilities. 

 

 In my rebuttal evidence, I noted that the submitters raise a very wide 

range of issues in their evidence and there has been quite a lot of 

overlap between the issues that they raise.  I remember that many of 35 

these same issues were brought up in the Environment Court Hearing 

on the transmitter in 1999, which I did give evidence. 

 

 I confine my rebuttal evidence to discussion of the exposure 

measurements which have been made at the site and some of the 40 

material cited or attached by the submitters to support their concerns 

that exposures to radio frequency fields from the transmitter, and in 

particular, from the FM radio stations, responsible for a variety of 

health complaints experienced by some of the residents in the area. 

 45 
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 Several of the residents suggest that I deliberately tried to minimise the 

measured exposures by making measurements behind trees or buildings 

which could shield the measurement probes from the RF fields.  I said 

at the time that that is not the case and I stand by that.  

 5 

 My evidence in chief, paragraph 4.7, summarises the type of approach 

normally taken when assessing scientific data to determine whether 

some agent may cause a health effect or not.  And attachment B to my 

rebuttal evidence gives further information on that process as in the 

generally accepted criteria for causality.   10 

 

 By contrast I find that the submitters highlight isolated studies, which 

quite understandably they consider to support their case.  In this field, 

as in many others, a wide range of studies have been undertaken and 

interpretation their findings based on strengths and weaknesses of the 15 

methods used may not be a simple matter. 

 

 That is why the approach in paragraph 4.7 of my evidence-in-chief is 

used so as to systematically evaluate and weigh up all the relevant 

evidence rather than picking and choosing isolated studies. 20 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Ms Grey.  Just before you start, have you read our pre-trial 

directions for this matter? 

 

MS GREY:   I am not sure, sir, there has been a lot of paperwork. 25 

 

SJH:   Well, there are pre-trial directions for every Chapter online, and I am not 

going to restrict you in any way, but earlier this week I received a long 

memorandum from you which I took, amongst other things, to be an 

application for leave to cross-examine because it requires that, which I 30 

granted. 

 

 But if you had complied with the directions, you would have indicated 

the time you require and the default position is 10 minutes. 

 35 

MS GREY:   Okay, sir. 

 

SJH:   So I am not going to limit you in any way, but if you are involved in any 

later chapters, if you would just refer to that document which is posted 

online for every chapter. 40 

 

MS GREY:   Thank you, sir, I apologise. 

 

SJH:   No, that is all right. 

 45 
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MS GREY:   Thank you.  Mr Gledhill, you mentioned in your reference to the 

electricity lines, the World Health Organisation reports, but in relation 

to the radio frequency, the World Health Organisation and IARC came 

out with another report or classification in 2011, May 2011, classifying 

radio frequency, electromagnetic radiation as a class to the possible 5 

carcinogen.  Are you familiar with that? 

 

  [2.15 pm] 

 

MR GLEDHILL:   Yes, I am, there was also one in, I think, it was 2001 for the 10 

low frequency fields which came out with the same classification for 

them. 

 

MS GREY:   And that World Health Organisation 2011 report was supported 

by a very extensive, I think, 480 page or so volume called the 15 

Monographs Volume 102 put out by IARC explaining how they came 

to that decision, have you read that? 

 

MR GLEDHILL:   I am familiar with it, I have not read every word. 

 20 

MS GREY:   And when you look at the monographs, you will see that that 

covers not only the cell phones that formed part of the studies used by 

IARC but also all other forms of electromagnetic radiation, they say 

that in the monographs, are you familiar with that? 

 25 

MR GLEDHILL:   Yes. 

 

MS GREY:   And the ability to possibly cause cancer, is that within the criteria 

you take into account when you are advising the Ministers, the 

responsible Ministers, as part of the committee you are on, the 30 

Interagency Agency Committee? 

 

MR GLEDHILL:   Yes, the Ministers are made aware of what bodies like 

IARC and other health bodies say, and what the meaning of that is.  In 

terms of the IR process, they have a scheme which runs from class 1 35 

which they consider is sort of really as definite as you can be that 

something might be a carcinus, and we would have heard about the 

processed meats falling into that recently.  There is the probably 

class 2A where they are less confident, they think it is probable but 

they cannot be sure and the class 2B possible means that the evidence 40 

they find is not strong enough to make a judgement either way and they 

note that where there is evidence suggesting there could be a risk, they 

acknowledge that that evidence could actually be affected by a thing 

such as bias and confounding which would give, like a false-positive. 

 45 
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 The other thing to note about the IARC process is that they say nothing 

about any sort of dose response relationship, so you cannot take it from 

IARC to mean that any exposure to something in say, class 1, is 

definitely hazardous. 

 5 

MS GREY:   But just going back to what IARC did say and they made an 

announcement in May 2011 recognising radio frequency radiation as a 

possible carcinogen, a class 2B - - - 

 

MR GLEDHILL:   That is correct and that has been sort of re-examined in the 10 

reports that are cited in the attachment to my evidence-in-chief, and the 

health bodies that have looked at it again since then are now beginning 

to think that the evidence is moving away from that possible status. 

 

MS GREY:   But it would be fair to say that many of the people that did the 15 

research that led to that decision have also done subsequent research 

showing clearer evidence of tumours, for example, the DNA studies by 

Henry Lai and Hardell, some of the other - - -  

 

MR GLEDHILL:   I am not sure that Henry Lai has published anymore since 20 

then.  Hardell has published more work suggesting that there is a 

correlation between brain tumours and cell phone use.  His work has 

been reviewed in combination with all the other studies done in that 

area, and people invariably note that the findings of his studies are 

quite discordant with those from the other groups that have carried out 25 

that work.  And they also note the lack of support from laboratory 

report. 

 

MS GREY:   Are you prepared to accept though, that the World Health 

Organisation goes to quite some trouble with a highly regarded 30 

international panel before it comes out with any recommendation? 

 

MR GLEDHILL:   Absolutely, there is no denying they went to a lot of 

trouble, and had good people. 

 35 

MS GREY:   And until that report, the Health Department of New Zealand has 

typically followed the reports of the World Health Organisation? 

 

MR GLEDHILL:   The Ministry of Health does put a lot of weight on what the 

World Health Organisation would say. 40 

 

MS GREY:   And would you accept that, if indeed, radio frequency radiation 

does cause cancer, that is a serious type of harm? 

 

MR GLEDHILL:   I think it is an “if” – and it is the same with low frequency 45 

magnetic fields if, yes, and again, it is a question not only of is there 
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something happening but it is a question of what actual dose or what 

sort of exposure is needed to do it. 

 

  [2.20 pm] 

 5 

MS GREY:   Right, but in principle, you would accept that cancers are a 

serious effect? 

 

MR GLEDHILL:   There is sort of a section in the Ministry of Health which is 

sort of dedicated to controlling cancer. 10 

 

MS GREY:   And it is the type of effect that is not caused by the heating levels 

of radiation, if indeed it is caused at all, is that it is an effect that is 

caused at lower levels. 

 15 

MR GLEDHILL:   In terms of the radio frequency fields, nobody has really 

come up with either a mechanism which would suggest how it would 

happen nor if they come up with any strong experimental evidence to 

show how it could happen.  There is certainly some studies which the 

people who undertook then conclude that they find for example that 20 

there has been DNA strand breakage but other people have tried to 

reproduce that work and they find that they just do not see the same 

thing. 

 

MS GREY:   Well just to put it another way, the Health Department and others 25 

test cellphones to make sure that they emit below the standards, in the 

New Zealand standard? 

 

MR GLEDHILL:   The Health Department has no testing of cell phone - - - 

 30 

MS GREY:   Okay, well other people do test it but they recognise that testing.  

There is no evidence that cellphones are operating outside the current 

New Zealand standards? 

 

MR GLEDHILL:   Not that I have seen. 35 

 

MS GREY:   And there is no evidence of any other international cellphones 

operating outside the current standards? 

 

MR GLEDHILL:   Not that I have seen. 40 

 

MS GREY:   And so if the World Health Organisations found some 

association, you would have to assume that it is happening at levels 

below the standards. 

 45 
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MR GLEDHILL:   Yes, and again I come back to the fact that it is an “if” and 

the people who did the work are equivocal as to whether there is a real 

cause and effect relationship or whether it is just weaknesses, biases in 

the study methods used and the fact that as time has gone on since then, 

the health bodies looking at more recent research are tending to say, 5 

well, we actually find the evidence suggesting a cancer risk is getting 

weaker. 

 

 And one of the sort of more interesting lines of evidence there is 

looking at the cancer registry data where if there was an effect of 10 

cellphones on brain tumour risk then you would expect to see that 

reflected at some stage in the cancer register’s by an increase in brain 

tumour registrations which correlates – although separated by a number 

of years – with the rapid uptake in cellphones, say from the late 90s to 

the early 2000s and to date nobody has seen that which could mean 15 

either it is an extremely small effect or it could mean that there is a 

long latency between the use of a cellphone and the cancer happening 

or it could mean that the cell phones have no effect at all. 

 

MS GREY:   Nevertheless, the people that wrote the Interphone Study 20 

internationally looking at brain tumours and cellphones, they overall 

found that there was a significant increase, enough to make that part of 

their findings when they eventually released their findings, didn’t they? 

 

MR GLEDHILL:   Yes, the Interphone Study found a small increase in risk in 25 

the group which they considered the heaviest cellphone users, which 

was the top 10 percent of the people in their study, but they were 

careful to point out that they did not think they could say that it was a 

causal relationship. 

 30 

MS GREY:   You would agree that it is quite a jigsaw puzzle putting all the 

information together so that anybody can really understand how the 

epidemiology, the in vitro studies, the historical studies making sense 

of the whole lot but you put in a paper from Mr Elworthy in your 

supplementary evidence that he has given some thought to that and you 35 

– you are obviously familiar with that paper? 

 

MR GLEDHILL:   Mark Elwood? 

 

MS GREY:   Elwood, sorry, yes.  And he talks about the type of evidence that 40 

you might use to come to conclusions about harm and effect and he 

talks about – sorry, I will just find the right page – he talks about 

studying the effects - - - 

 

SJH:   Just for the record if you, so it is on the transcript, could you refer to the 45 

page? 
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MS GREY:   Yes, sorry, sir.  It is part of Mr Gledhill’s rebuttal evidence. 

 

SJH:   Yes, no, it is attachment 1, Mr Elwood’s witness – what paragraph of 

that? 5 

 

MS GREY:   And it is - - -  

 

SJH:   Just so we have it on the record.  It starts with the heading 

“Attachment 1, Page 75”.  Is that the one? 10 

 

MS GREY:   Thank you, sir.  Yes, sir, it is. 

 

  [2.25 pm] 

 15 

SJH:   Yeah, if you just refer, when you’re asking the questions, the paragraph 

number so it comes up later for our benefit in the transcript. 

 

MS GREY:   Yes.  And, of course, nobody can deliberately expose people to 

electromagnetic radiation and compare their state of health before and 20 

after, can they, because that would be ethically unacceptable? 

 

MR GLEDHILL:   Well, there are certainly laboratory studies in which people 

are exposed and they would normally go through an ethics committee. 

 25 

MS GREY:   Yes, but if there is any sort of harm discovered, it is unethical to 

continue to expose people, would you agree with that? 

 

MR GLEDHILL:   Look, I am not familiar with the exact workings of what an 

ethics committee would look at and how they would do the 30 

assessments. 

 

MS GREY:   Okay, well if you accept that there are restrictions on ethics of 

keeping people when you know that it is going to make them ill and it 

limits that type of study; so with radio frequency radiation, one of the 35 

main sources available are the effects on people who have been 

exposed and without – maybe deliberately or maybe unknowingly – but 

having tracked back and find some links between the exposure and 

harm, do you agree that that is - - - 

 40 

MR GLEDHILL:   So you are talking about sort of epidemiology studies? 

 

MS GREY:   I am talking about individual case studies and epidemiological 

studies. 

 45 
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MR GLEDHILL:   Yes, well that is how epidemiology does a fair amount of its 

work. 

 

MS GREY:   And that is a way you can build up a body of information about 

how there may be some cause and effect. 5 

 

MR GLEDHILL:   Yes. 

 

MS GREY:   And you would agree that if there are similar studies in different 

places on a similar type of radiation and similar results are shown in 10 

different locations, then that is one of the type of things that Mr Elwood 

- - - 

 

MR GLEDHILL:   Yes, that is one of the things that he talks about in his 

consistency at paragraph 1.15, yes. 15 

 

MS GREY:   And you would have read both in previous hearings and for this 

hearing the very extensive information from Mrs Hargreaves, 

Ms Dormer, James Ervos (ph 2.52) and many of the other residents 

how they attribute their declining health with exposure to the radio 20 

tower? 

 

MR GLEDHILL:   Yes, I have, but there is a key difference between the 

epidemiology study of the type described by Professor Elwood and the 

individual case report, anecdotal report. 25 

 

MS GREY:   But there is still a valuable source of information in the absence 

of a carefully controlled individual study. 

 

MR GLEDHILL:  They are a source of information and I think that is sort of 30 

mentioned right at the end of Professor Elwood’s quip (ph 3.32) there 

is that is his sort of level 4 at the bottom of the hierarchy of the types of 

evidence relevant to human health study and often they might be the, 

they want to do a more in-depth study, but they would normally not be 

taken as sort of sufficient evidence. 35 

 

 As far as I remember, there were sort of around the time of the late 90s 

there was a study done by the Canterbury Medical Officer of Health 

and I think Professor Elwood did a small study as well.  Just, I cannot 

remember the details, I do not know the extent of what they looked at, 40 

if that was studies in the Ouruhia area. 

 

MS GREY:   And there was the study by Professor Sweet, a preliminary study, 

are you familiar with that one? 

 45 

MR GLEDHILL:   Yes. 
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MS GREY:   And a study by Dr Hocking, who also did the Sydney study - - -  

 

MR GLEDHILL:   I really cannot remember the details of Dr Hocking’s work. 

 5 

MS GREY:   And those studies looked at the reported health of residents, their 

animals, their trees and the wide environment.  Are you familiar with 

the type of things - - - 

 

MR GLEDHILL:   Look, I cannot remember all the details; it was a while ago 10 

since I saw any of it. 

 

MS GREY:   Are you in a position to come up with any more likely 

explanations for the ongoing ill health at Ouruhia than the radio tower? 

 15 

  [2.30 pm] 

 

MR GLEDHILL:   No, I am not a medic, I would not claim to be able to offer 

any diagnosis, but the epidemiologist would caution against assuming 

causality from what appears to be a correlation and without a 20 

sufficiently strong study to determine whether effects are actually 

linked to some cause, I do not think you can make much of a statement 

at all. 

 

MS GREY:   Well if you have got a lot of sick people and there is only one 25 

possible cause that anybody can think of, would you not have to have 

that on your list of possible causes? 

 

MR GLEDHILL:   You could make up a list of possible causes but I do not 

think you could necessarily from that list single one out without doing 30 

the proper work behind it. 

 

MS GREY:   When there is only one thing on the list and what you can do is 

expose the people to that one source and then take them away and 

compare their health when they are away from the source and then 35 

compare their health when they are back before the source, you would 

accept that that is a legitimate thing to do? 

 

MR GLEDHILL:   Well I think there you have to be careful of things like a 

placebo effect, which Professor Petrie at Auckland University has done 40 

a lot of work on. 

 

MS GREY:   Do you think the placebo effect applies to their horses and cows 

as well so when they take the horses and cows away they get better and 

when they take them back they get well. 45 
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MR GLEDHILL:   I think that is probably less likely. 

 

MS GREY:   And do the dead branches and dead leaves on the trees? 

 

MR GLEDHILL:   I do not know of anybody who has taken the trees away and 5 

brought them back. 

 

MS GREY:   Well when they have turned the power off and turned it back on 

the health of the trees, the evidence from the submitters is the health of 

the trees improves. 10 

 

MR GLEDHILL:   I have not seen any sort of, anything I would think is 

evidence or a controlled study which has looked at the vegetation. 

 

MS GREY:   When you talk about evidence are you saying that eye witness 15 

accounts are not evidence? 

 

MR GLEDHILL:   Eye witness accounts are one thing, but if you were trying 

to talk about science I would say well what was the exposure, when did 

it start, when does it stop, where are the records? 20 

 

MS GREY:   That is all quite easy to document because there are records of 

those things and people have made a start on doing those things.  You 

may not be familiar with this but would you accept in principle if that 

documentation matched up with the health effects documented by the 25 

residents, particularly in their medical records, blood testing, the 

records of animals that have died and vet studies, would you accept that 

that may start to prove some pretty useful evidence? 

 

MR GLEDHILL:   I think if you have a proper scientific study into the health 30 

or the trees, then yes, it is useful evidence, but until you have properly 

conducted a scientific study with the right sort of protocols in place 

then it is hard to draw conclusions. 

 

MS GREY:   But you would agree if the same patterns keep repeating, both 35 

within Ouruhia and between Ouruhia and other places where there have 

been health effects associated with radio towers then that would at least 

form the basis of it? 

 

MR GLEDHILL:   Yes, sure, if you have the data it will be put in with all the 40 

other data and weighed up with all that other data. 

 

MS GREY:   As part of your role in the interagency committee; when did you 

interagency committee look at the effects of the residents of Ouruhia 

and assess that? 45 
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MR GLEDHILL:   I do not think anything has been put in a peer reviewed 

publication about the Ouruhia residents. 

 

MS GREY:   When did you look at the effects of the residents of Vatican that 

got sick next to that radio tower? 5 

 

MR GLEDHILL:   That probably would have come up around 2000 and 

something, I am not sure. 

 

MS GREY:   When did you look at the Scundara (ph 4.13) where people got 10 

sick there? 

MR GLEDHILL:   I believe the Scundara study took place well before the 

radio frequency fields fell within the scope of that committee. 

 

MS GREY:   So the committee has not looked at that one? 15 

 

MR GLEDHILL:   No, it has not looked at that one but I would be quite sure 

that the bodies of the type that produce the reports listed in the 

interagency report administers would have considered it and the other 

studies that have been done since then. 20 

 

MS GREY:   And the Sydney radio tower Dr Bruce Hockings radio tower he is 

the same person - - -  

 

MR GLEDHILL:   Well again that was before the interagency committee 25 

started considering radio frequency fields.  The interesting thing to note 

about Dr Hocking’s study is he looked at three municipalities close to 

the radio tower and some municipalities further out and he concluded 

that there was an excess risk of leukaemia in a municipalities, as 

compared with the outer ones, but when McKenzie did a more detailed 30 

study afterwards that seemed to be confined to just one of the three 

municipal power which sort of weakens the argument of Dr Hocking. 

 

  [2.35 pm] 

 35 

MS GREY:   But the findings in all those other countries were sufficient for the 

authorities to take steps to reduce the exposure, are you familiar with 

that, have you studied that at all? 

 

MR GLEDHILL:   Sorry, which other countries? 40 

 

MS GREY:   Vatican City led to the radio emissions being removed and in fact 

a decision of the Supreme Court of Italy ordering compensations to the 

residents? 

 45 
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MR GLEDHILL:   I believe they were fined because they were exceeding the 

limits that were allowed. 

 

MS GREY:   And compensation – I can find the decision if you have not seen 

it. 5 

 

MR GLEDHILL:   Look, I am not familiar with what happens in the Italian 

Court. 

 

MS GREY:   And the Scundara one they removed their emissions and the 10 

people got well again afterward – the ones that were not beyond hope 

got well again afterwards. 

 

MR GLEDHILL:   I am not familiar with all the follow-up. 

 15 

MS GREY:   You would accept that it would be a precautionary type of thing 

to do that if people, the only possible source of harm that anybody has 

identified is from a radio tower then it would be a sensible thing to do, 

to reduce the emissions? 

 20 

MR GLEDHILL:   You would need to have the evidence to suggest that that 

could be what is actually causing the problem in the first place and by 

evidence I mean more than the residents saying “I have these problem”. 

 

MS GREY:   You are saying that residents do not really matter what they 25 

think? 

 

MR GLEDHILL:   No, that is not what I am saying, I am saying you need 

scientific evidence not anecdotal evidence.  I fully accept that the 

residents, some of the residents are reporting health problems and an 30 

extremely wide variety of health problems, far wider than have be 

considered in those studies you have talked about but again I say just 

because you are focused on one possible cause it does not mean that 

that necessarily is the cause. 

 35 

MS GREY:   When I studied science we were taught that observation is a 

primary source of evidence are you trying to say that unless a scientist 

has somehow done something with it, then the original observations are 

of no value? 

 40 

MR GLEDHILL:   When I studied science it was the three step process, there 

was observation, hypothesis and experiment and the purpose of the 

experiment is to test the hypothesis which you raised following your 

observation. 

 45 
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MS GREY:   That is quite interesting because the way the New Zealand 

standard works is to set a very high threshold for the evidence that you 

take into account is harm, is it not? 

 

MR GLEDHILL:   I do not believe it is any higher than in any other sort of 5 

safety standard.  As Professor Elwood has said, the approach that is 

followed with RF in terms of things like the health criteria for 

determining causality, are well accepted in a wide range of fields. 

 

MS GREY:   Well, perhaps by scientists and perhaps that is the way that 10 

(INDISTINCT 3.27) and scientists do things and you take into account 

only replicated peer review studies published in journals that you 

approve of, but under the resource - - -  

 

MR GLEDHILL:   That seems a little judgemental. 15 

 

MS GREY:   No, I am asking you the question that is what it says in the 

documentation. 

 

SJH:   You have explored this at some considerable length it is really for us to 20 

draw our conclusions, Ms Grey. 

 

MS GREY:   Yes, sir. 

 

SJH:   If you are nearing the end of that, you finish it - - - 25 

 

MS GREY:   Thank you, sir, but the point is that the criteria that is used by 

your body when assessing an effect or what you call an established 

effect under the New Zealand NZS2772.1, the New Zealand standard, 

there is a higher threshold than the definition that is used in the 30 

Resource Management Act, are you familiar with the definition in the 

Resource Management Act? 

 

MR GLEDHILL:   Yes, I am familiar with it because it was discussed quite a 

bit in the Shirley Telecom hearing and the effect of low probability, but 35 

high potential harm. 

 

MS GREY:   That is a lower threshold than the threshold that you are adopting 

in your interagency group? 

 40 

MR GLEDHILL:   I do not know how the law would weigh up the effects that 

way. 

 

MS GREY:   When you say in your evidence that the New Zealand standard is 

precautionary, you don’t mean that its precautionary because it takes 45 



 Page 70 

  

Ch11: Utilities, Energy and Infrastructure – Stage 2 Commenced 02.12.15 

into account biological effects, you mean it is precautionary because it 

has a factor of 50 on top of the known heating effect, is that right? 

 

  [2.40 pm] 

 5 

MR GLEDHILL:   It has the factor of 50 below the threshold for effects which 

we can be confident about, and below which there is no really strong 

evidence of any effects at all, and it also has the requirement, 

irrespective of compiling with the numerical limits, if there are steps 

you can take to reduce or minimise the exposures, then you should do 10 

that too.   

 

MS GREY:   When you say “below which there are any effects at all” you 

mean effects that are recognised by the general criteria? 

 15 

MR GLEDHILL:   Effects that have demonstrated by the process described by 

Professor Elwood through the Bradford Hill criteria.   

 

MS GREY:   You do not mean effects of the type described by the residents at 

Ouruhia? 20 

 

MR GLEDHILL:   I mean effects that have been investigated through scientific 

processes and evaluated through processes like going through the 

Bradford Hill criteria.   

 25 

 Nobody expects everything to be ticked off, it is a matter of weighing 

up the evidence, and just because you have some evidence which 

suggests maybe there is nothing going on, it doesn’t mean that you 

would reject the possibility of an effect. 

 30 

 I mean sometimes, for example if you look at the Bradford Hill criteria, 

there may be no specificity for some agent as to whether it is causing 

one effect, it might cause several.  The fact that it causes several does 

not mean that you would reject it as a cause of the disease or illness 

you are looking at. 35 

 

MS GREY:   Do you know Dr Sophie Walker, who I think may have taken 

over your old position at the National Radiation Laboratory, though it 

is now called the Primary Research Institute ESR? 

 40 

MR GLEDHILL:   I have met her very briefly once, but I know of her.   

 

MS GREY:   Are you familiar with the biannual series of reports she did about 

the biological effects of electromagnetic radiation through 2012/2013? 

 45 

MR GLEDHILL:   Yes, I have seen them. 
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MS GREY:   Has your interagency committee – well first, why is Dr Walker 

not on your interagency committee? 

 

MR GLEDHILL:   Because ESR were no longer doing that work for the 5 

Ministry of Health, and I believe she has actually left ESR now.  And 

there was another representative from ESR who did come along to a 

few meetings. 

 

MS GREY:   Of the multiple studies that she reported in her reports of 10 

biological effects, attributing biological effect, which of those have you 

studied in the interagency? 

 

MR GLEDHILL:   I looked through the reports that Dr Sophie Walker did, and 

I compare them with the reports that are summarised in the attachment 15 

to my evidence, the interagency report to Ministers, and it seems to me 

that what Dr Walker has done is a search of a medical database, she has 

pulled out the abstracts that match the search terms, and in the 

introduction she has just summarised numbers of studies, and whether 

they reported something or whether they didn’t report something. 20 

 

 But there has been no actual going back to the original data to have a 

look at how they did the work, what exposure system they used, how 

they did the analysis of the data. 

 25 

 Whereas if you look at the report summarised in the appendix D of the 

interagency report, it is quite clear that they go back, they actually look 

at what the experimenters did, whether they followed good laboratory 

practice, whether their data analysis was appropriate, and that is why I 

would put a lot more weight on the reports summarised in appendix D 30 

there than in the brief summaries which were done by Dr Walker. 

 

 And one of the things that is mentioned very frequently in the National 

and International Scientific Health Body Reports, is that many of the 

studies that report effects have not been particularly well carried out. 35 

 

MS GREY:   But you would agree that there are a large number of studies that 

Dr Walker found that did report biological effects from radiation at 

levels below the heating effects allowed in (INDISTINCT 5.03)? 

 40 

  [2.45 pm] 

 

MR GLEDHILL:   Yes, that is correct, but what I was saying was that they 

have also been analysed in more detail by other bodies who, with all 

due respect, Dr Walker are probably better placed to look at the aspects 45 

of the study like that, and many of them have been found sort of 
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wanting in some of the, say the experimental techniques used and have 

not been replicated. 

 

MS GREY:   Okay.  Are you familiar with the work of Dr Mary Redmayne, a 

New Zealand Scientist working at Monash University? 5 

 

MR GLEDHILL:   Yes. 

 

MS GREY:   And her recent, well she has done some original studies, but also 

her reviews of International Standards in different countries - - - 10 

 

MR GLEDHILL:   Yes. 

 

MS GREY:   - - - identifying for example far more precautionary standards that 

have been adopted in Russia, than say New Zealand? 15 

 

MR GLEDHILL:   Yes, I have already mentioned that while a number of 

countries follow the exact same approach as we do here, other countries 

have taken different approaches.   

 20 

MS GREY:   Yes, I think her most recent study was approximately 50 percent 

had more stringent standards than New Zealand, are you familiar with 

that? 

 

MR GLEDHILL:   I am familiar with it, I have not looked at percentages in 25 

that way, no.   

 

MS GREY:   And the ones that have got more stringent standards have often 

got standards that are several orders of magnitude more stringent, than 

New Zealand Standard, so in other words the limits are maybe one one-30 

hundredth or one-ten thousand of the limits in New Zealand. 

 

MR GLEDHILL:   Yes.  And as I noted in my evidence, the fact of having 

lower standards does not actually seem to make much difference to the 

exposures that people measure in those countries. 35 

 

MS GREY:   But you would have to accept that it might make a difference to 

the health of the people who live in those places if the maximum they 

can be exposed to is one-hundredth or one-thousandth or - - - 

 40 

MR GLEDHILL:   Well if the actual exposure is similar in the two countries 

and the exposure is the quantity that effects their health, I do not see 

how it is going to make a difference in terms of health. 

 

MS GREY:   Well let me make a suggestion, for example the Ouruhia Radio 45 

Tower would be illegal in Russia because the emissions that you 
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measured, for example at Mrs Hargreaves house are well in excess of 

what would be permitted under their standards.  So although they - - - 

 

MR GLEDHILL:   Well I would need to know what the Russian standard is. 

 5 

MS GREY:   Yes, and I probably haven’t got a copy, but it is approximately 

100 to thousandth of the standard here, or let’s go the Swiss Standard, 

the location - - - 

 

MR GLEDHILL:   I would need to go back and look at what the actual 10 

exposure levels measured at the house were to provide a comment on 

that.  

 

MS GREY:   Okay, but let us say for example if there is a far more stringent 

emission standard, such as they have in Switzerland, in Russia, in 15 

China, and many parts of Eastern Europe, then the decision whether or 

not to place radio tower in a place such as Ouruhia would be different, 

would it not?  It would not get consent. 

 

MR GLEDHILL:   It might be different, it depends on what the exposures are. 20 

 

MS GREY:   So when you said that it would not make any difference to the 

exposure to people, it would, wouldn’t it, because the tower would not 

be there at all? 

 25 

MR GLEDHILL:   That is possible, yes.   

 

MS GREY:   Or if there were emissions that were suspected of coming close to 

the limit or causing harm that would be moved elsewhere? 

 30 

MR GLEDHILL:   Yes, but if you look at – even in places like Switzerland, 

they do have exemptions available.  

 

MS GREY:   But they would not make an exemption where there is a strong 

history of residents getting sick presumably, would they? 35 

 

MR GLEDHILL:   Well I don’t know.   

 

MS GREY:   So would you accept that if the residents of Ouruhia were getting 

sick from the radio tower, then either there is something wrong with 40 

your monitoring results or there is something wrong with the New 

Zealand Standard. 

 

MR GLEDHILL:   Or there is something wrong with the assumption that the 

radio tower is responsible.   45 
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MS GREY:   Well if it is attributed to the radio tower. 

 

MR GLEDHILL:   Well if you have good evidence to suggest that it is the 

radio tower, yes, but there we have an “if”. 

 5 

MS GREY:   Well is anybody putting their hand up to do some funding to help 

research this, because a lot of people are getting sick.  There is a lot of 

circumstantial reasons why it may be well attributed to the radio tower.  

We have got a process from Dr Elwood about how it could be done.  

We have got the international studies we can call on, we have got well 10 

documented evidence.   

 

SJH:   Sorry, Ms Grey, but this is really getting well outside our jurisdiction, I 

can understand the residents concern and why you are asking the 

question, but it is not something that we could have any power to order, 15 

as you would well appreciate.   

 

MS GREY:   No, I appreciate that sir.  It would help if one of the requests from 

the submitters, as bearing in mind this long history at Ouruhia and the 

delay in getting any action through the authorities of the Health 20 

Department, the Interagency Committee, that it would incredibly 

helpful for the residents if there was some kind of acknowledgement 

that some sort of study - - - 

 

  [2.50 pm] 25 

 

SJH:   Well you can deal with that in closing submissions, but we have no 

jurisdiction to order anything like that, as I am sure you are well aware. 

 

 You better check back there because one of your clients seems to want 30 

to intervene. 

 

MS GREY:   Can I ask if my client can ask directly, it is an electrical question 

that - - -  

 35 

SJH:   Well I am – either you are appearing or you are not, Ms Grey, this is 

quite improper – I will allow it but it should be put through counsel. 

 

MR ROBERTSON:   Yes, I was wondering - - -  

 40 

SJH:   If you would stand up please. 

 

MR ROBERTSON:   Sorry.  You were saying the extra low voltage standing, 

who is the magnetic field electric low voltage the same as the electrical 

standard which in New Zealand is under 55 volts? 45 
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MR GLEDHILL:   If we are talking about the magnetic field produced - - -  

 

MR ROBERTSON:   Yes, magnetic field. 

 

MR GLEDHILL:   - - - by the current. 5 

 

MR ROBERTSON:   Yes, is that the same standard as the New Zealand 

electrical regulations which state that - - -  

 

MR GLEDHILL:   No. 10 

 

MR ROBERTSON:   It is not? 

 

MR GLEDHILL:   No, no. 

 15 

MR ROBERTSON:   What voltage is that? 

 

MR GLEDHILL:   The WHO recommendation is nothing to do with voltage, it 

is to do with the magnetic fields produced around anything that carries 

- - -  20 

 

MR ROBERTSON:   Oh, okay - - -  

 

MR GLEDHILL:   - - - an electric current. 

 25 

MR ROBERTSON:   - - - sorry, I thought you said “extra low voltage”. 

 

MR GLEDHILL:   No, I said “extremely low frequency”. 

 

MR ROBERTSON:   Low frequency? 30 

 

MR GLEDHILL:   Yes. 

 

MR ROBERTSON:   Okay. 

 35 

MR GLEDHILL:   And that is usually taken to be less than 300 hertz. 

 

MR ROBERTSON:   Yes, okay, no that is all right, that is good thanks. 

 

SJH:   All right, thank you. 40 

 

MS GREY:   Right, thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Do you have any other question? 

 45 
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MS GREY:   One more matter, sir, the New Zealand standard expressly 

excludes protection for people with pacemakers and other biological 

devices, bioelectrical devices, does it not? 

 

MR GLEDHILL:   I take you – quite possibly, yes, it would certainly - - -  5 

 

MS GREY:   It is item – and it – sorry – it does, I just got to find the section – 

it is in the introduction somewhere but I just cannot see it, Mr Gledhill. 

 

SJH:   Can you help us with where in the standard you are referring? 10 

 

MS GREY:   Yes, I am sorry, sir, I have it noted and I am just looking for it, 

sir. 

 

 Maybe I can put it another, Dr Sophie Walker’s research identifies 15 

categories of research indicating areas where pacemakers and other 

electrical devices may not be protected by the emission levels in the 

standard, are you familiar with those? 

 

MR GLEDHILL:   I have seen some and I have seen some work that was done 20 

in Australia a while ago on implants, and it is all the function of how 

large the implant is and I remember they said anything 20 millimetres 

or below would be pretty much unaffected, and then it said whether it 

makes a difference depends on the size of the implant and the 

frequency of the transmissions and what sort of tissue it is embedded 25 

in. 

 

MS GREY:   Right.  So the bigger implants might struggle with background 

radiation effects? 

 30 

MR GLEDHILL:   Are you talking about active implants like a pacemaker? 

 

MS GREY:   With electrical signals in them. 

 

MR GLEDHILL:   I am more familiar with the information on the ELF fields 35 

to those, rather the radio frequency fields.  I would have to look that up. 

 

  [2.55 pm] 

 

MS GREY:   And the standards provide no protection for people with allergies 40 

for what is known as “electromagnetic hypersensitivity”, does it? 

 

MR GLEDHILL:   The standard does not mention any particular health effect 

or health concern, there has been a lot of work done on the electro 

hypersensitivity and the conclusions that or the review groups come to, 45 

is that while who consider themselves to be electro sensitive do indeed 
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suffer some symptoms, the work that has been done does not suggest 

that the radio frequency fields are actually anything to do with the 

cause of those symptoms. 

 

MS GREY:   You are quite bold in your answer there, I think you might have 5 

said that “all the research”, have you seen the most recent research in 

the last few days that has come through? 

 

MR GLEDHILL:   It is always tempting to quote the most recent study that has 

come through and believe that that gives the absolute answer to 10 

everything.  For this as well as in any other field, it has to be seen 

against the background of the other work that has gone before - - -  

 

MS GREY:   So study that - - -  

 15 

MR GLEDHILL:   - - - and the work that has gone before, when it has been 

reviewed and sort of weighed up for the strengths and weaknesses, the 

conclusions are quite strongly supporting the fact that the radio 

frequency fields do not seem to have any bearing on the development 

of symptoms.  Now, and I am not familiar with anything that has come 20 

out in the last few days I am afraid. 

 

MS GREY:   There studies showing markers, biological markers for people 

who are electro hypersensitive compared to other people but that has 

only come out in the last few days so - - -  25 

 

MR GLEDHILL:   Mm'hm. 

 

MS GREY:   Have you – there is nothing in the New Zealand standard to 

protect against multiplier effects from metal either, is there? 30 

 

MR GLEDHILL:   The New Zealand standard considers the strengths of the 

radio frequency fields and if there is a reflecting surface which has the 

effect of increasing the intensity of the field, well that is the field that is 

of interest in comparison against the levels in the standard, so it - - -  35 

 

MS GREY:   But the field you are measuring is the field of interest. 

 

MR GLEDHILL:   That is correct and the field you measure is built up of the 

direct field coming from the transmitter and any reflected field which 40 

say gets reflected off the ground or reflected from the building, so it is 

whatever you have there. 

 

MS GREY:   But in your monitoring back in 1996 you said the opposite I 

believe, you said that the levels are artificially high because you and 45 
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the monitoring device were acting as an antennae that was somehow 

multiplying the levels that you were recording on your device. 

 

MR GLEDHILL:   You talking about the AM – yes, that is – when the levels in 

the standard are set, are based on what they call the “unperturbed 5 

field”; so in the absence of a person there, then the level that you would 

measure and the absence of the person is what is of interest, and that is 

how that reference level in the standard is set, and that might include 

the reflections off the ground, it might include of the reflections off the 

building 10 

 

 But at the low frequencies, particularly the low frequencies that you get 

around an AM mast, the presence of a person can actually distort the 

field and if you are holding a probe and especially if you are holding 

the probe with the handle of the probe parallel to the radio frequency 15 

field, then it will speculate spurious much too high reading and that is 

why the very first time I went out to the Ouruhia transmitter, I 

completely screwed up the measurements and why I went back again 

and did it properly the next time when I realised what was going on. 

 20 

MS GREY:   So if Mrs Hargreaves or one of the residents who are out in the 

field with metal irrigation pipes or the like, what is the chance that that 

could cause the same sort of multiplication effect of radiation as an 

aerial of the - - -  

 25 

MR GLEDHILL:   It is that multiplication when you are doing the 

measurements is different sort of factor, than the multiplication if you 

are saying that next to the building, we did some measurements next to 

the barn and we saw what the fields were there.  So you can see the 

kind of effect that it does have. 30 

 

MS GREY:   So they were much higher next to the barn, the metal barns? 

 

MR GLEDHILL:   They were higher but they were still, in the scheme of 

things, they were quite low and if I remember the measurements that 35 

were done to sort of satisfy the condition in the consent that came out 

of the Environment Court hearing, they were still well below the level 

that had been agreed upon. 

 

  [3.00 pm] 40 

 

MS GREY:   And the levels behind the sheds were much lower than the levels 

in front of the sheds, weren’t they? 

 

MR GLEDHILL:   I cannot remember whether we did measurements behind 45 

the sheds, but they would be. 
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MS GREY:    I think have probably covered everything, thank you, sir, and 

thank you for your patience. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  That is all right, thank you.  Ms Huria? 5 

 

MS HURIA:   No, thank you, sir. 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   Yes, I have a few questions.  Good afternoon, 

Mr Gledhill.  I just want to ask a couple of questions around the 10 

standard itself because we do not have a lot of information in the 

documentation around the standard and I am in particular talking about 

the numeric standard rather than the wording. 

 

MR GLEDHILL:   Yes. 15 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   So the paper that – I tried to research what the 

standard was and it said that the specific absorption rate would be 

0.08 watts per kilogram, is that correct, that is in the standard? 

 20 

MR GLEDHILL:  Yes, that is right. 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   I see that there is also a what they call an equipment 

power flux density of 50 microwatts per centimetre squared, is that in 

the standard? 25 

 

MR GLEDHILL:   No, I think that is the old what at one time the Christchurch 

City Council had.  The standard sets what it calls a fundamental limit or 

what they call a basic restriction in terms of the radio frequency power 

absorbed in the body, and that is that specific absorption rate of 30 

0.8 watts per kilogram.   

 

 Now, in day to day terms that is an impractical thing to work with 

because nobody can actually go along and measure it and say whether 

you comply with that or not.  So what they also specify in the standard 35 

are what they call reference levels, which are in terms of the incident 

radio frequency field strengths and those reference levels are set so that 

if you comply with the reference level you can be sure that you are 

going to comply with the basic restriction. 

 40 

 So at the frequencies of an FM radio transmitter, for example, you have 

a basic restriction of 0.8 watts per kilogram and you have a reference 

level of 2 watts per square metre, and you can sort of measure your 

incident field quite easily with a suitable probe to determine what the 

incident power flux density is and then compare that against the 45 

reference level. 
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MR ILLINGSWORTH:   Okay, because it is quite hard – I found it quite hard 

to understand the relationship between the two. 

 

MR GLEDHILL:  Yes. 5 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   So could I just ask a question about your letter of 

18 October 1996 where you actually measured some equivalent power 

flux densities and were they the incorrect readings, I think you sent the 

letter to Mr Robinson, was it? 10 

 

MR GLEDHILL:   I think there was one in August and one, I cannot remember 

the date of the other one but one just simply gave a table with the 

numbers and the second letter said “I am sorry I did it wrong, these are 

what the correct numbers should be and I regret - - - 15 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   Yes, I think it said 240 microwatts per centimetre 

squared, would you consider that to be a high reading? 

 

MR GLEDHILL:  That was probably the first one and, yes, that would be high. 20 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   Can I just go back to the standard, 2011, is there any 

difference in the numeric standard between 2011 and 1999? 

 

MR GLEDHILL:   The 1999 standard sets the exposure limits.  The 2011 25 

standard is just saying how you should assess what the exposures are to 

compare against those numerical limits, it doesn’t actually change the 

numerical limits at all. 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   Okay, and the revision of 2016 that won’t change 30 

them either? 

 

MR GLEDHILL:   No.  No, that is all to do with how you work out what the 

exposure is to compare against the numerical limits. 

 35 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   So that is what the 2011 does, it sets these reference 

standards which allow you to relate that back to the SAR, numerally? 

 

MR GLEDHILL:   No, no, the reference levels in the SAR they are all 

contained in the 1999 standard.  So in 4.1 of my evidence-in-chief I 40 

summarise what those two standards do. 

 

  [3.05 pm] 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   Okay.   45 
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MR GLEDHILL:   So I say that the 1999 standard, which is the part 1 standard, 

that is what sets the limits into the basic restriction on the SAR and also 

sets the reference levels and those are unchanged since then.  The 2011 

standard is one that says “If you want to sort of work out either by 

measurement or calculation what the exposures are then this is how you 5 

should go about it”.   

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   Okay, thank you.   

 

MR GLEDHILL:   And what is coming out in 2016 is just an amendment of 10 

that 2011 standard. 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   So this specific absorption rate, is that as simple as 

saying there is a certain wattage, a surface area on a person’s body and 

a weight that they have and that will give you a specific absorption 15 

ratio? 

 

MR GLEDHILL:   Unfortunately it is not that easy. 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   It is not that simple? 20 

 

MR GLEDHILL:   Because different sort of parts of the body absorb the radio 

signal differently and some of the radio signal reflects back off the 

body.  It used to be worked out with fairly simple models of the body 

just assuming a kind of spheroidal or oval shaped body and doing some 25 

calculations, now there is lots of computer models which can do it a lot 

more precisely. 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   Okay, well, we will not go there, it sounds 

complicated. 30 

 

MR GLEDHILL:   It is. 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   Dr Kerdemelidis, is it? – I am sorry I have a bit of 

trouble pronouncing his name – said that the signal produced is the 35 

inverse square of the distance to the measurement point, do you agree 

with that? 

 

MR GLEDHILL:   If you are in a direct line of sight from where the transmitter 

is and if you just follow along the same line going, so you have got the 40 

antenna up here, you walk away in a straight line, then in the absence 

of any other effects it will decrease as one over the distance squared, 

that is correct. 

 

 But if the transmitter is sort of the top of the mast up here and you are 45 

walking along the ground then it gets more complicated because of the 
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way the radio engineers design the antennas so that most of the signal 

goes outwards rather than downwards and you can find sort of more 

complicated patterns as you walk away and that to start with you do not 

get that simple one over R squared change.   

 5 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   Okay, thank you.  The precautionary principle, have 

they applied a precautionary principle of 50 to the New Zealand 

standard? 

 

MR GLEDHILL:    It is called a safety factor of 50. 10 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   A safety factor? 

 

MR GLEDHILL:    So through the review of the research they come up with a 

value of the specific absorption rate at which you seem to be getting 15 

effects occurring and to set the limit for the public they put in a factor 

of 50 below that.  So if 4 watts per kilogram is taken to be the level at 

which you might get effects and then the limit for the public is set 50 

times lower at 0.8. 

 20 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   Okay, thank you.  Just what other safety factors are 

there worldwide; ours is 50, which is the highest one that you know of? 

 

MR GLEDHILL:   In terms of a - - -? 

 25 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   Reduction in the allowable? 

 

MR GLEDHILL:    Yes, in terms of people coming out and saying “This is a 

safety factor”. 

 30 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   In the standards I am talking about. 

 

MR GLEDHILL:    Yes, I cannot think of any numerical safety factor which is 

lower than 50 but, as we were discussing earlier, you have some 

countries who have just said “Well, we are going to put our limit at 35 

this”, and they don’t refer to any safety factors or anything like that.  

They have said, for example, “Well, this is the level that we find in the 

environment at the moment, this is the level that we can achieve with 

the current technology so this is where we will set our limit”. 

 40 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   So do you know what that is for the Swiss one for 

instance? 

 

MR GLEDHILL:    For the Swiss one it depends on the frequency of the 

transmitter but for the frequencies used by 900 megahertz, which is one 45 
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of the frequencies used by cell phones, it is about 4 microwatts per 

square centimetre per installation. 

 

 Brussels had one, it was done in terms of the electric field strength 

which is related to the power flux density and until this year it was 5 

3 volts per metre but they put it up to 6 volts per metre so they could 

accommodate newer cellular technologies. 

 

  [3.10 pm] 

 10 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   Okay, so one last question I would like to ask is 

around about amplification.  You have given us quite a bit of 

information about the view that there are oscillations that nose between 

other towers.  Can you give us a little bit of information on that?  Does 

that occur?  Does it occur that if you have two radio transmitters, say, 15 

10 kilometres apart, that one will end up crossing the other and 

amplifying it just like maybe a couple of pebbles in the pond?  Is that, 

does that amplification occur in reality? 

 

MR GLEDHILL:   I do not think amplification is the correct word to use.  If 20 

you have a radio transmitter here and a radio transmitter here and you 

measure what the exposure is in the middle, it will be the sum of 

whatever you are getting from this one plus whatever you are getting 

from this one. 

 25 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   So there is no effect that one creates a greater signal 

than the other, it is just a straight linear - - - 

 

MR GLEDHILL:   You never get something for nothing.  So it is whatever 

energy or power is being delivered from each, you are going to 30 

measure the total of it.  That will be uncorrelated signals or they should 

be so that you will not get any, should not get any interference type 

effects where you can get standing waves set up, it is only, you know – 

yeah, it will be the sum of the exposures from the two. 

 35 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   That is sufficient, thank you very much. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you.  Thank you, Mr Gledhill.  I just have a couple of 40 

questions.  The first one is, the Ouruhia residents, and Ms Grey has 

talked to you about some of them today, have put to us a whole range 

of papers and publications and studies that they referred to and you 

have commented on some of those but I just want to understand more 

clearly that the various reviews that have been done was the 45 

international committee’s review in 2009, our New Zealand 
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Interagency Review this year and you have mentioned other reviews 

that have been done worldwide.   

 

 How do those, the sorts of papers and the range and scope of papers 

that are the sorts of things that Ouruhia residents have put to us, how do 5 

they get picked up and then decided to be incorporated or not 

incorporated and sort of brought together into the reviews that you have 

referred us to? 

 

MR GLEDHILL:   Normally they will do a literature search, so there are 10 

various medical and scientific databases which release the papers from, 

you know, a huge range of publications.  There are things like PubMed 

in the US, I think it is 10s of 1,000s of journals which they index there, 

so they will decide on the search terms they think are appropriate to the 

sort of review they want to do and they will enter those search terms 15 

into these databases and look at all the titles that come out.   

 

 They will probably have a date limit as well or they may not, so they 

will look at those, they will get the papers and they will have a look at 

them and they will examine them to see what sort of methodology they 20 

used, how they analyse the data and they will sort of match that up 

against their expectations in terms of sort of laboratory practice and 

statistical practice and they might weed out quite a few papers that way 

if they think that they have not been done particularly well and then 

they will sort of look at what remains and so to see what sort of picture 25 

it is telling them all together. 

 

 In that appendix D here, it refers to a review in 2014 by the Health 

Council of the Netherlands which looked at animal studies relating to 

cancer and it is reasonably short but it sort of goes through quite well, 30 

the steps they follow to arrive to sort of pick the literature of interest 

and then to come to a decision about what they thought it all meant. 

 

  [3.15 pm] 

 35 

MS DAWSON:   So in terms of the weight that were given to various pieces of 

information by these big agency reviews, various pieces of information 

will fall out, I guess, at different places.  I mean, some will not have 

even been in a journal or whatever that might even have hit the 

database to start with and then others will be weeded out again so that 40 

they gather together the most reputable and scientifically strong, I 

suppose, material as the basis for review? 

 

MR GLEDHILL:   Yes, if it does not make it in a journal then it is probably, 

you know, not worth going in there in the first place because usually 45 
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the purpose of doing the science is to get it published so everybody can 

know about it. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And the process that you have just described, you would say 

it would be a standard scientific practice for investigating research that 5 

has been done? 

 

MR GLEDHILL:   Yes, yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you.  And my second question is on another 10 

topic all together.  I am not familiar with the NESTF, the 

Telecommunications NES and that is recommended to be reflected 

with similar controls or you have said more similar than they were in 

the District Plan.  So I am interested in knowing if you were able to tell 

us what the NES covers and why the same controls need to be in this 15 

District Plan. 

 

MR GLEDHILL:   Okay, so the National Environmental Standards for 

Telecommunication Facilities; it covers a wide range of sort of facets 

of telecommunications infrastructure.  One of those are the levels of 20 

radio frequency fields produced by that infrastructure but the radio 

frequency field limit part only applies to telecommunications 

companies which are Network Operators as defined under the 

Telecommunications Act and that is sort of the people like Spark, 

Vodafone, 2 Degrees and Kordia who run most of the TV and FM radio 25 

transmitters but there are other people who operate radio equipment 

who are not Network Operators, so they are not covered by the NES. 

 

 The NES sort of sets the procedures for a radio operator to follow to 

determine whether what they want to do is going to be a permitted 30 

activity or not and what is being proposed for the Christchurch Plan 

now is very similar to what is in the NES for Telecommunication 

Facilities for the radio frequency field exposure. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So, yes, because if it is in the NES, it is done, the standards 35 

have been set and it does not need to be in the Plan and the controls are 

set generally across New Zealand.  But you are saying there are some 

facilities that that was the case but there are other facilities of a similar 

nature that happen to be owned or operated by other bodies - - - 

 40 

MR GLEDHILL:   That is right, yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   - - - that need to be controlled through the District Plan? 

 

MR GLEDHILL:   Yes, yes. 45 
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MS DAWSON:   And so if, for example, the Ouruhia mast happened to be 

owned and operated by a Network Utility Operator but was covered by 

the NES, the NES standard would have covered it and as I understand it 

your evidence is to try and make it that where the standards in the 

District Plan and the NES are similar, they should be as same as 5 

possible rather than having sort of slight variances. 

 

MR GLEDHILL:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right.  Thank you very much for explaining that, thank 10 

you. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Ms Grey, are there any questions arising specifically from 

the Panel’s questions? 

 15 

MS GREY:   No, thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   All right.  Mr Leslie, anything from the Panel’s questions or re-

examination? 

 20 

MR LESLIE:   No, thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Thank you, Mr Gledhill, you may stand down. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW  [3.19 pm] 25 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Sir, if I may, excuse me.  There is just one point I want 

to raise for my learned friend opens her case, and I have just been 

reading the submissions which have been filed and, I mean, 

submissions are submissions, sir, and people are entitled to make 30 

submissions about various matters and it is up to the Panel to reach 

conclusions about a witnesses’ credibility and professionalism and 

expertise. 

 

 There is one point I think I would just like to raise and invite my 35 

learned friend to reconsider and that appears in paragraph 52 - - -  

 

  [3.20 pm] 

 

SJH:   Sorry, paragraph? 40 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   52 of the written submissions.  It is the final sentence of 

this, of that particular paragraph which in my submission is an 

unnecessarily personal comment which is unsubstantiated and it 

certainly - - - 45 
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SJH:   So this is, therefore seek provision for a well-resourced - - - 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   No, no, sir, page 11, paragraph 52. 

 

SJH:   I see, we have got a number, there is another 52 on here at the very end. 5 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, yes, sir, sorry.  So just the middle of page 11. 

 

SJH:   That is a matter for Ms Grey, but we do the assessment of credibility and 

weight to attach to witnesses. 10 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, sir, well I just really – I felt it necessary to point 

that out because - - - 

 

SJH:   It is perfectly proper that you do so, Mr Winchester, - - - 15 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Quite unfair - - - 

 

SJH:   - - - at the end of the day, of course, it is a matter for the panel. 

 20 

MR WINCHESTER:   Absolutely sir, thank you. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Ms Grey, just before you come to your opening, there is one 

matter I need some clarification of.  There was a number of issues 

raised regarding Judge Hassan in his former role which led to him 25 

recusing himself and me chairing this particular part of the Hearing. 

 

MS GREY:   Yes, sir. 

 

SJH:   However, in some places, it is referred to John Hanson, my name.  Now 30 

I need to know if that is a spelling error because, or is it something else 

because I have no recollection in my entire professional career of ever 

being involved in a case of this sort. 

 

MS GREY:   Entirely my mistake, sir. 35 

 

SJH:   All right, I can understand, it is not arrogance; but I can assure I have 

never been involved in a case of this sort either on the bench or at the 

bar. 

 40 

MS GREY:   I am sorry, sir.   

 

SJH:   All right, well there are a couple of other matters.  Firstly, you have not 

read the pre-trial direction so I will just explain how we operate in most 

of these Hearings. 45 
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 We have relatively brief openings and speaking to those openings, you 

will however, be given the chance to file extensive written submissions 

which I will timetable at the end of the Hearing and which the Council 

will have the chance to respond to in the normal way, but rather than 

try and rush people into it, in a Hearing, we give them a few days to 5 

consider it and put it in writing.  That is the first thing. 

 

 The second thing you will not have picked up is that witnesses are 

expected to give a 10 minute highlights package of their evidence, and 

that is the way every witness has been through the Hearing, and your 10 

witnesses will have to be the same.  So they will have to give us that 

highlights package. 

 

MS GREY:   Yes, they are. 

 15 

SJH:   They are all doing that, I am grateful for that. 

 

MS GREY:   Yes, sir.  Doctor Vassilios Kerdemelidis, he is appearing on a 

slightly different basis, he has not prepared new evidence for this - - - 

 20 

SJH:   No, no, I understand that. 

 

MS GREY:    His availability is to answer questions that have arisen with his 

engineering expertise. 

 25 

SJH:   Yes.  All right, well if you would open and then call your first witness 

please, or perhaps you could open, and then we will take a 10 minute 

break and come back to your first witness. 

 

MS GREY:   Thank you, sir.  So the Ouruhia radio tower has a long complex 30 

and well documented history of causing serious - - -     

 

SJH:   No, I just said to you, you do not read the opening, - - - 

 

MS GREY:   I am sorry, sir. 35 

 

SJH:   - - - we have got it in writing, you speak to it. 

 

MS GREY:   Okay, I am sorry, I am sorry, sir.   

 40 

SJH:   And you are no different from anyone else in this, you have been treated 

no differently. 

 

MS GREY:   Thank you, sir.  The issues today is ensuring that the plan has 

provisions to reflect the sad history of the Ouruhia site and to ensure 45 

that adequate protections are put into the Plan going forwards to try to 
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ensure firstly, that only suitable sites are chosen for future radio 

transmitting facilities, and any changes made to existing facilities are 

changed in such a way as to ensure sustainable management and to 

minimise any adverse effects to communities. 

 5 

 Much of the evidence from the submitters today will be about the 

history of problems with the site because the view is that only by 

looking at the history at what has happened, can sound decisions be 

made going forward.  Because one of the problems, obviously, with the 

Resource Management Act is often projecting what might happen, and 10 

it is very difficult to predict what might happen going forwards without 

looking at what has happened in the past, and it is very clear that the 

radio frequency issue and the harm from that is an issue that there is no 

comprehensive study of all possible effects and largely because it is 

such an incredibly difficult thing to do, and an incredibly difficult thing 15 

to resource, and it is an evolving issue. 

 

  [3.25 pm] 

 

 But the concern of the submitters though, is that the Standard that is 20 

being applied in New Zealand NZS277.2.1, is a Standard that has been 

designed by scientists based on a very high threshold of evidence, and 

it is a different Standard than the Standard of effects that is prescribed 

by Section 3 of the Resource Management Act, and most particularly, 

Section 3F, which in line with international environmental law and the 25 

Rio Declaration, adopts a more precautionary approach. 

 

 It does not required 100 percent certainty or even certainty beyond 

reasonable doubt.  It requires if there is something that has got a serious 

potential consequence, even if it is not probable, if it is possible, it is 30 

still an effect that needs to be taken into account. 

 

 So the concern about NZS277.2 is the line is being drawn in drawing 

up that Standard at a very high level of certainty and scientific harm, 

and so first of all, that Standard predates the World Health Organisation 35 

recognition that radio frequency EMR is a potential carcinogen, and so 

of course, it could not possibly reflect that.  And it is submitted, of 

course, that potential carcinogen causing substance that is being 

emitted over the environment causing cancer, is potentially very 

serious. 40 

 

 So it is submitted that that is an effect that is fairly and squarely within 

section 3F of the Resource Management Act, that is the 480 page report 

explaining the science behind that ruling puts it well into the threshold 

where it is not some hypothetical possibility, it is a serious finding by a 45 

very highly regarded body full of international experts. 
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 So that is one example of what are known as biological effects that are 

not protected in the New Zealand Standard. 

 

 And we have talked to Mr Gledhill about the Standard we have in New 5 

Zealand is adopted in similar forms in some countries, but many other 

countries around the world have far more stringent standards that are 

far more precautionary than the New Zealand Standard. 

 

 So although the scientists in New Zealand have taken one view, that is 10 

not a universal view of the science, and if the available science was 

reassessed under the section 3F criteria rather than the criteria that they 

use in NZS 277.2, my submission is it would come out much more 

where the Russian and the Chinese and the Swiss, and many other 

eastern European authorities have placed their standards, that is a far 15 

more precautionary standard that is designed to effect against effects 

that although not 100 percent proven, are sufficiently established and 

sufficiently serious that they require to be protected against. 

 

 And to pick up on Panel member Dawson’s question about the 20 

telecommunications facility.  The crux of concern from the Ouruhia 

submitters is the regulation 4 of those regulations; it provides that any 

emissions of radio frequency in accordance for a telecommunications 

facility in accordance with the New Zealand Standard, is deemed to be 

a permitted activity. 25 

 

 So any decision made can have no regard whatsoever of evidence of 

the type of these submitters because the way that has been.  And the 

submission is that although Parliament has seen fit or the Minister for 

the Environment and his team have seen fit to pass that regulation in 30 

relation to telecommunications facilities, and it is a highly controversial 

matter in many quarters, it is not appropriate to compound that into the 

radio frequency and radio wave arena, especially bearing in mind the 

significant history of harm attributed to the radio tower at Ouruhia and 

elsewhere around the world. 35 

 

 So Parliament has spoken in relation to telecommunications facilities, 

in the meantime, however, this is the wrong case to extend a 

controversial standard into before of radio towers. 

 40 

 It would mean that there could be multiple more transmissions added to 

the Ouruhia tower and the residents would not be able to be heard make 

any submissions, it would all be done “tick a box” as of right as long as 

somebody does a report that says “it complies with the New Zealand 

standard”, NZS2772. 45 
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  [3.30 pm] 

 

 So under those telecommunication facilities regulations, if it does not 

comply in all respects with the New Zealand standard then it 

(INDISTINCT 0.38) non-complying activity, but anything where there 5 

is someone that has ticked a box to say “it will comply with the New 

Zealand standard”, is the whole issue of health effects is completely off 

the agenda, there can be no argument, despite for example the World 

Health Organisation recognising radio frequency MRs a class two 

carcinogen despite the reports that are coming through consistently 10 

showing all sorts of mental health effects, effects on DNA replication, 

effects on sperm fertility, effects on headaches, electro sensitivity and 

hundreds of reports as Mr Gledhill spoken of, and despite the fact that 

only a very, very small percentage of those reports ever make their way 

into any of the government review. 15 

 

 So large bodies of evidence for logistical reasons do not get looked at 

and cannot get looked at in the New Zealand standard until funding is 

made available to review that standard. 

 20 

 So my submission is, there is a huge mismatch between the standard 

that we have got that protects against what they call “established health 

effects” only, and standards adopted in other parts of the world that are 

far more precautionary that protect against all these other biological 

effects that for whatever reason do not make it onto the various review 25 

Panels, including for example as Panel member Dawson raised, the 

evidence of the Ouruhia submitters they are not in a peer reviewed 

report, all of that evidence of harm does not make it to any of the 

Panels that set the thresholds. 

 30 

 So the Ouruhia submitters do not like the national environment span of 

telecommunications and think that that is inappropriate for any purpose 

for radio frequency MR but it is understood that all you can do is look 

at how that standards applied to radio towers. 

 35 

 And the other key submission and summary that I ask you to bear in 

mind, is that if the monitoring is correct and if the residents are correct 

about the adverse health they suffered when the radio tower particularly 

was emitting FM radiation and it is very well documentally explained 

by the  series of submitters, then an inevitable conclusion that must be 40 

drawn is that the emission standard is too high, it is causing ill-health 

unless nobodies been able to come up with any other possible cause 

and despite numerous studies in the past the High Court recognised the 

possibility and the High Court proceedings, the Environment Court 

recommend the possibility of harm, nobodies able to point to any other 45 

possible cause - - -  
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SJH:   I just wanted to raise that with you, that decision of Justice Chisholm's 

because you say in your submission, that the High Court has accepted 

the evidence of ill-health, I presume all they done would be in the 

context of reinstate that stating a struck out proceeding that it is 5 

arguable. 

 

MS GREY:   That is correct, sir, but he has accepted that within - - -  

 

SJH:   Because until there is a trial there would be no such find then. 10 

 

MS GREY:   That is correct, sir. 

 

SJH:   Right. 

 15 

MS GREY:   But there was enough evidence from the table - - -  

 

SJH:   So in your written material you overstate that a bit. 

 

MS GREY:   I am sorry, I perhaps overstate it, sir. 20 

 

SJH:   Right, thank you. 

 

MS GREY:   Yes, that - - -  

 25 

SJH:   All right, thank you. 

 

MS GREY:   But he was faced with quite large volume of material to form the 

basis of that, sir. 

 30 

 And the third key point that although it is widely claimed that the New 

Zealand standard NZS2772.1 is precautionary, my submission is that it 

is not precautionary at all, in the context of firstly assessing only the 

heating effects, the well-established 100 percent heating effects do not 

the carcinogenic effects that the World Health Organisation have 35 

recognised is possible and not any of the other what are called 

“biological effects”. 

 

 Secondly, it is a standard that was developed using 100 kilo men in an 

occupational setting, although there is a safety margin of 50, it is a 40 

small safety margin, bearing in mind the difference between the risk of 

say foetus’s, pregnant woman, young children, elderly, 

immunosuppressed, as a group compared to occupational men working 

in the field, and there is a significant difference between an 

occupational exposure just a few hours per day and a 24/7 45 

environmental exposure and there is a significant difference in the 



 Page 93 

  

Ch11: Utilities, Energy and Infrastructure – Stage 2 Commenced 02.12.15 

occupational setting where people have a choice if they work in that 

field and presumably be paid additional money for it, whereas in the 

environmental field the residents have no choice and some of them may 

not want to be exposed to that risk. 

 5 

  [3.35 pm] 

 

 So it is – and bearing in mind the levels of the standards overseas, it is 

submitted that to claim that this standard is precautionary is drawing a 

very long bow on the basis of the available research and the gaps in that 10 

standard. 

 

 So the crux of what the residents are asking for is primarily that the 

new plan be as stringent as possible in restricting further emissions 

particularly from Ouruhia, but it does not adopt the telecommunication 15 

facilities national environmental standards – sorry, the other around, 

national environmental standard for telecommunication facilities – it 

leaves on the table the opportunity for residents to make further 

submissions about health effects and ongoing health effects, many of 

which is still continuing the longer term health effects showing up now 20 

that were not showing up back in the cancers, the tumours, they are 

showing up now that were not showing up back when the Environment 

Court looked at this matter back in 1998 or through the Council 

hearing. 

 25 

 So they ask that that be kept on the table and I appreciate it is outside 

the jurisdiction but they do seek some kind of recognition to help 

encourage some sort of wider investigation so that their experiences are 

somehow collected into the system that when new standards are being 

reviewed it is not treated as simply statements of individuals who do 30 

not know what they are talking about but it is treated as a legitimate 

basis that somehow some resource or competent authority is able to 

look at these issues so that what has been learnt in Ouruhia and the 

horrific experiences of many of these families, their dreams, their 

lifestyles, their animals, their farms, is somehow learnt and captured so 35 

that it is not just continuing on, and you know everyone forgets it. 

 

 So that is – I understand the limitations of your process but somehow 

that is what they seek. 

 40 

SJH:   All right, thank you. 

 

MS GREY:   Thank you, sir. 
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SJH:   All right, well will take a 10 minute adjournment – I think it might be 

useful we brought up Google earth of the mast and the surrounding 

area, it will assist witnesses orientation for us, all right? 

 

 So we will take a 10 minute adjournment and we will come back with 5 

your first witness, Ms Grey. 

 

MS GREY:   Thank you, sir. 

 

ADJOURNED [3.37 pm] 10 

 

RESUMED [3.52 pm] 

 

SJH:   Yes, thank you.  Just before you call your first witness Ms Grey, we 

received a great deal of material in unsorted form, which the secretariat 15 

very kindly tabulated and paginated for us, and then we had an 

application from you that certain information, apart from 

Ms Hargreaves, I think, in dealing with your client’s health should be 

redacted.   

 20 

MS GREY:   Yes. 

 

SJH:   They are now going in the witness box - this is a public hearing, there is 

a transcript, and it goes online.   

 25 

MS GREY:   Yes, I think everybody - - - 

 

SJH:   So do they understand that? 

 

MS ………….:   Could you please repeat that, please. 30 

 

MS GREY:   So the information that you say goes in the transcript. 

 

MS …………:  That is okay, yes.   

 35 

MS GREY:   There is no issue with any of the witnesses, sir, it is just the odd 

reference to other people.   

 

SJH:   No, I understand, I just wanted to make sure they understood before they 

got in the witness box and there was not any unpleasant surprises for 40 

them, that was all. 

 

MS GREY:   Thank you, sir.  

 

SJH:   Thank you.  If you call you first witness then.  45 
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MS GREY:   Thank you, sir.  The first witness is Dr Vassilios Kerdemelidis.  

 

SJH:   Thank you.   
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<DR VASSILIOS KERDEMELIDIS, sworn [3.53 pm] 



 Page 97 

  

Ch11: Utilities, Energy and Infrastructure – Stage 2 Commenced 02.12.15 

<EXAMINATION BY MS GREY [3.53 pm] 

 

MS GREY:   Dr Kerdemelidis has some hearing issues sometimes, so please 

forgive him if we - - - 

 5 

SJH:   That is all right. 

 

MS GREY:   Thank you, sir.  Is your full name Dr Vassilios Kerdemelidis? 

 

DR KERDEMELIDIS:   That is right. 10 

 

MS GREY:   And prior to your retirement you were a Professor in Electrical 

Engineering? 

 

DR KERDEMELIDIS:   I am a senior lecturer, yes.   15 

 

MS GREY:   And you were involved looking at the Ouruhia issue until about 

1999, 1997? 

 

  [3.55 pm] 20 

 

DR KERDEMELIDIS:   1996, yes. 

 

MS GREY:   And you prepared a report for the Environment Court hearing that 

was part of the evidence for the Ouruhia submitters back in 1997? 25 

 

DR KERDEMELIDIS:   I probably did, yes, that was a long time ago. 

 

MS GREY:   That report was about the suitability of the Ouruhia site for FM 

radio? 30 

 

DR KERDEMELIDIS:   I remember that clearly, yes. 

 

MS GREY:   You obviously had concerns about the Ouruhia site as being 

suitable for FM radio that you recorded in your report? 35 

 

DR KERDEMELIDIS:   That is right, I foresaw that the alternative, why put an 

antenna in the middle of a populated area when you can cover the 

whole area from the top of the hill and it was, the coverage would not 

have been any worse than from the other site. 40 

 

MS GREY:   We have not troubled you to prepare another statement to update 

it but basically you have had no involvement in Ouruhia since then but 

it is fair to say your concerns remain as they were back in 1997? 

 45 

DR KERDEMELIDIS:   I have no involvement, no.  I am sorry. 
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SJH:   Speak a little more in the microphone perhaps, Ms Grey. 

 

DR KERDEMELIDIS:   Thank you. 

 5 

MS GREY:   Although you have not been involved in the last 19 or so years 

can you confirm that your concerns about the suitability of FM radio 

for Ouruhia are the same as when you wrote your report? 

 

DR KERDEMELIDIS:   If I was concerned about? 10 

 

MS GREY:   FM, VHF radio transmissions from the Ouruhia site? 

 

DR KERDEMELIDIS:   Yes, there is no reason to put this antenna in a 

populated area when you can have a better coverage from the top of the 15 

hill, yes, because the energy density is much lower if it is far away, yes. 

 

SJH:   Perhaps she should repeat the question. 

 

MS GREY:   Just to make sure you have understood the question, the question 20 

was although you have not been involved in the Ouruhia issue for the 

last 19 years or so the concerns you had about FM radio from Ouruhia 

back when you wrote your report, do you still have the same concerns 

now, the same opinion? 

 25 

DR KERDEMELIDIS:   Yes, of course. 

 

MS GREY:   I am sorry. 

 

DR KERDEMELIDIS:   I was in charge because there is no real evidence that 30 

they are not harmful. 

 

MS GREY:   No, I think that is fine, thank you.  Just to assist the Panel with 

your report, the main concern is because of the wavelength of FM radio 

being different from AM radio, that it has a different effect on the 35 

body? 

 

DR KERDEMELIDIS:   I did not quite get that.  FM radio from there, well the 

power density would be much lower, yes.  Personally I think the radio 

density is a tiny dosage because human is an electrical (INDISTINCT 40 

4.02) and there will be some resonances and things but I mean as long 

as you are not exposed for too long, this is the main thing is if you are 

exposed for 24 hours and you do not recover, especially if you are 

growing then you are in trouble, because you adapt to the radiation but 

if you are exposed a limited time then you obviously recover, well it 45 

depends how long, you know, what is the ratio between on and off. 
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MS GREY:   Because the wavelength - - -  

 

DR KERDEMELIDIS:   Yes, of course, that is the VHF, that is the, that is 

right, that is the main thing, that the VHF is actually of such length that 5 

the human is a resonant.  Resonant means the outstanding waves inside 

you and the field can build up to a greater extent that it would come in, 

that would resonance, the resonance would be there, keep on lighting 

up. 

 10 

  [4.00 pm] 

 

MS GREY:   So just to make it clear, the wavelength from FM radio, what is 

the wavelength? 

 15 

DR KERDEMELIDIS:   The wavelength of VHF is from one to three metres 

and if you had that electric constant, which actually shrinks it, it will be 

the human size, one and a half metres, one metre.  That should be the 

main danger, I think, VHF.  But then at the higher frequencies of 

microwaves that we use, they are dangerous when in kind of smaller 20 

objects like eyeballs or the head, head can be a resonant and so the field 

can actually build up from the original that comes in because it keeps 

on piling up.   

 

MS GREY:   So the wavelength, if the wavelength is approximately the same 25 

size as an eyeball, it has more problem for the eyeball, that is what you 

- - -  

 

DR KERDEMELIDIS:   No, the microwaves, yeah.  

 30 

MS GREY:   The microwaves.  And the FM because it is approximately the 

same size of the human body, it has - - - 

 

DR KERDEMELIDIS:   VHF. 

 35 

MS GREY:   VHF has particular harm? 

 

DR KERDEMELIDIS:   And I have got small children and they are smaller so 

any frequency, anything above VHF is dangerous, yeah.  Well, by 

danger I mean that they are bound to build up to higher potentials and 40 

the human being electrical any more could be affected and I mean there 

is some evidence but, you know, I do not think I need to say anymore. 

 

MS GREY:   No, but we have asked if you could come so that you could 

answer questions if any of the Panel members have questions for you, 45 

so - - - 
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SJH:   All right.  Ms Huria? 

 

MS HURIA:   No, thank you, sir. 

 5 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   No questions, sir. 

 

SJH:   Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   No questions, thank you very much. 10 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  You may stand down. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [4.02 pm] 

 15 

SJH:   I am sorry, you are not going to cross-examine any witnesses, are you? 

 

MR LESLIE:   That is correct, sir, no. 

 

MS GREY:   The next witness is Barry Robertson. 20 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 
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<BARRY ROBERTSON, sworn [4.02 pm] 
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SJH:   Just take a seat. 

 

MR ROBERTSON:   Thank you.  I am Barry Robertson, I own a property right 

next to the radio tower, so I own that - - - 

 5 

SJH:   Just pause a moment before you start.  You formally need to - - - 

 

MR ROBERTSON:   Oh, okay. 

 

<EXAMINATION BY MS GREY [4.02 pm] 10 

 

MS GREY:   Your full name is Barry Robertson? 

 

MR ROBERTSON:   Yes. 

 15 

MS GREY:   And you own a property next to the radio tower but you do not 

actually live in that place, is that correct? 

 

MR ROBERTSON:   That is correct, yes. 

 20 

MS GREY:   And you have prepared a brief of evidence or evidence that you 

have already lodged with the Hearings Panel? 

 

MR ROBERTSON:   Yes, I will just go through it somewhat, I do not want to 

go through all of it. 25 

 

SJH:   And can you confirm to the best of your knowledge and ability the 

contents of your brief of evidence are correct? 

 

MR ROBERTSON:   Yes, I can. 30 

 

SJH:   All right, thank you. 

 

MS GREY:   And you have now prepared a summary to highlight on the key 

points, if you could present that, please. 35 

 

SJH:   Are we just able to bring up Google Earth now and you start while – 

here we are, could you identify where your property is, is it within that 

bit there? 

 40 

MR ROBERTSON:   Yes, see the white, see the green – I have not got a curser 

– down this way. 

 

SJH:   Down below? 

 45 

MR ROBERTSON:   Across.   Across to where the white paddock is. 
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SJH:   No, the white one.  That one, there.  So that is your property there? 

 

MS …………:   No, that is mine. 

 5 

SJH:   Whose is that, that is yours? 

 

MS …………:   That is mine, you are not having my property. 

 

MR ROBERTSON:   That must be very old, is it?  Sorry, that must be very, 10 

very old.  I have not seen Google Earth - - -  

 

SJH:   Yes, zoom out a wee bit. 

 

MR ROBERTSON:   My property unfortunately you do not see the mark on 15 

that but it is next to the white paddock there, it is down below it.   

 

MS …………:   No, right. 

 

MR ROBERTSON:   Right, and just up a little bit. 20 

 

SJH:   No, just move the cursor not the whole map.  Move the cursor to the left, 

please.  Keep coming.  Left as we look at it.  

 

  [4.05 pm] 25 

 

MR……….:   Sorry. 

 

SJH:   That is all right. 

 30 

MS DAWSON:   Moved too far. 

 

SJH:   Keep coming. 

 

MR……….:   I cannot see the cursor. 35 

 

SJH:   Oh, I see.  Keep coming to your right.   Stop. 

 

MR ROBERTSON:   Down a little piece.  From there, from that boundary that 

is my boundary to the radio tower and from there south which is down 40 

there, yes. 

 

SJH:   Right.  So the property with what appears to be a number of vehicles on 

it, or sheds or something? 

 45 

MR ROBERTSON:   It has sheds and maybe some vehicles, yes. 
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SJH:   Yes, okay, thank you.  Right, now, you go ahead with your summary. 

 

MS HURIA:   Sorry, sir, where is the tower? 

 5 

MS DAWSON:   Where is the tower? 

 

MR ROBERTSON:   The radio tower is not there because it collapsed or was 

just about going to collapse.  It was liquefaction, A-grade liquefaction 

land and is sunk after the first earthquake and sunk again after the 10 

second one and shorted out and what happened they had to take the 

tower down. 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   Where was it? 

 15 

MS WYLAARS:   Right by the arrow, just to the right of - - - 

 

SJH:   To the right of the arrow? 

 

MS WYLAARS:   Slightly to the right of the arrow. 20 

 

SJH:   Okay, there. 

 

MS WYLAARS:   There spot on. 

 25 

SJH:   Thank you. 

 

MS HURIA:   So there is no tower? 

 

MR ROBERTSON:   Yes, there is, that is the base of the tower.  Unfortunately 30 

when Google Earth has done it, it is between the time it has been taken 

down. 

 

SJH:   So a tower has now been rebuilt on that site? 

 35 

MR ROBERTSON:   It has been rebuilt. 

 

SJH:   All right.  Okay, well, you go to your summary now, Mr Robertson. 

 

MR ROBERTSON:   Okay.  With the effect of the standard and the way I see 40 

the New Zealand standard having 200 microwatts and the City Council 

standard having 50, the difference is when you get combined effects.  If 

you had 200 and then someone put a radio tower next to you or a cell 

tower next to you, you will be pushed over your 200 which wouldn’t be 

safe.  So the City Council basically has to be below that because of the 45 

combined effects otherwise basically for health and safety.  And the 
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only thing that is wrong with the City Plan is if one person puts a radio 

tower it is quite legal to go up to 50 microwatts at his boundary.  The 

next person can come and put another one there at 50 microwatts at the 

boundary and you can be experiencing more than your 50 microwatts, 

you get 100 microwatts if you are on the boundary. 5 

 

 So instead of I would say increasing the City Plan I would say to 

decrease it because the increasing radiation we have in our own homes 

with Wi-Fi and cordless phones, cell phones, it is all building up so our 

background radiation is going up and up and can easily put you above 10 

the 200 microwatts standard because if they up that standard they are 

actually limiting what you can do in your house to be safe.  I will go 

through it a little bit later. 

 

 In 1996 I found a consent for designation and it wasn’t actually, it was 15 

on a neighbouring property, Penny Hargreaves and Bushes (ph 3.01) 

and they were applying for a designation and I would say the reason for 

this was in late 95/early 96 I actually saw them doing work on the 

tower where it was just an AM tower when I first bought the property, 

and they were putting FM dipoles on.   20 

 

 And I said to them, I researched their consent in the City Council and 

found that their consent was for only low frequency.  And I just make 

the point here that Martin Gledhill was saying those results were for 

extra low frequency so they have no relevance to this tower at all 25 

because, I mean this FM is high frequency and the other transmission is 

slow frequency on this tower.  No transmissions on this is extra low 

frequency, it is all, you know, 1 kilohertz up, which is the normal AM 

stations.  So I do not think that study has any relevance to this site at all 

because there is no 300 hertz or below transmissions on this site.  In 30 

fact I do not think there would be any radio station in New Zealand.  

 

 So after that when they found out, I told them they had no consent they 

went back and tried to get a designation and they actually hid it in the 

bushes next door.  It was not on their own property and I complained to 35 

the Council, the Council made them come back and reapply for a 

consent and post it on their own property because they were not doing 

that. 

 

 After that I decided to get monitoring taken and Martin Gledhill and I 40 

went around and he did the monitoring and I watched and I picked out 

the points where it should be high.  And at that time you would see 

under the thing it went up to 220 microwatts per cube, next to the radio 

tower which he was a bit astounded about, it went right off the meter, 

and he said to me that he had never seen it that high in any radio station 45 

that he tested. 
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  [4.10 pm] 

 

 Later on he came back and said that he did not know how to work his 

instruments correctly, and that it should be only, what did he say, 29 5 

microwatts per cu.  But when he came back and did his testing I was 

never there, so I don’t actually know exactly the points he tested on.  

That is one of my complaints on that, that no one really knows what the 

point was. 

 10 

 And if that was correct and he didn’t know how to use his instruments 

correctly, effectively the New Zealand Standard he was applying to at 

that stage was, instead of being 200, if you go from 260 microwatts, 

which was the peak level he recorded and then he went down to 26 

microwatts.  So he said he recorded it at 260 and then he went back and 15 

did the readings and he said they were only 26, effectively that is 8.9 

times lower.  

 

 And he was applying that of all his readings before 1996, so every 

reading he did he was using his testing in the same way, so effectively 20 

the New Zealand Standard was only 22.5 microwatts, it was not 200, 

because that was the standard he was applying to.  The standard might 

have been that but that is not the standard he was applying to the 

standard. 

 25 

 The Council after that ordered testing to be done and I wanted to be 

there when the testing was done, but unfortunately all the testing 

seemed to be done without any person there, without anyone saying 

where to do the highest levels.  And I got the results afterwards and I 

went around every specific site, took a photo of this site.  And I had my 30 

instruments with me – we did testing on that, I took a photo of exactly 

where he did it on the photograph, and in some cases moved from two 

to six metres away, and I had two to 10 times difference in power.   

 

 Because every site had been restricted by trees, powerlines, buildings, 35 

and at that hearing I stood up and said that, and I actually said to him in 

the hearing if he has any dispute on any of these readings I will go back 

with him with his meter and we will redo that.  And he accepted those 

readings – he said no, he accepted those readings.   

 40 

 So from that he should have gone back with his own metering and 

redone every – seeing he accepted those readings, he should have gone 

back with his own meters and redone all his readings in clear line of 

site.  But that never happened.  And those results got used in the 

Resource Consent Hearing after that, which is like false evidence. 45 
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 So I do not think that should be done.   

 

 As you can see from the photographs I have produced, that that is a 

very bad siting for FM tower, I mean FM is line of site, you should 

never put an FM site down on low lying ground because you need a lot 5 

more power to push out the distance.   

 

 That tower was shifted from Sugar Loaf, which is a designated site, 

which is where all FM should be, they should never be down low, and I 

talked to the managing director of BCL and he said to me, they can 10 

produce the same or better signal at one-third the power at Sugar Loaf, 

so there is no reason they could not relocate to Sugar Loaf with nearly 

one-third less power.  

 

 The actual condition of the tower itself had slight rust on the guy wires, 15 

it had rusted bolts, and it was in such a bad condition in later than 96, I 

think in 97/98 they actually sent in a letter around to us in the mailbox 

stating that they wanted to sandblast all the tower and redo it.  And in 

their own letter said it could be at risk in a few years of collapse. 

 20 

 Of course that tower is done with epoxy resin paints, and if they were 

going to sandblast that tower at 400 metres, the epoxy resin, which is 

carcinogenic would have gone all over the surrounding properties, so I 

objected to that, said that tower has to be taken down and then you take 

it away, sandblast it because the carcinogenic cannot be left lying on 25 

the ground everywhere.   

 

 And from that time no maintenance was done until the earthquakes, so 

looking at nearly 20 years no maintenance was done when their own 

people said that that tower was becoming unsafe. 30 

 

  [4.15 pm] 

 

 At the time of the earthquake, you will see the photographs of the 

liquefaction on there, the power sunk in the first earthquake, they tied, 35 

(INDISTINCT 0.17) wires, it sunk again in the next earthquake, it 

tilted over and actually at a later stage when it flooded, because it is 

very, very low lying land, it actually shorted the tower right out.  That 

is a tower that is supposed to be for civil defence and actually never got 

used for civil defence because it never worked through earthquakes.  So 40 

another, a very poor siting of the tower. 

 

 After that they put up a temporary tower, a very small tower, from like 

460, 450 feet to 30 feet, a small tower, which was to produce am.  That 

tower, the compression on that signal, if you get a 400 foot tower and 45 

you compress it down to that signal base, and it will get extremely – 
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they should have never done it, extremely high levels of RF come into 

my property.  In fact, my trees all the way down their boundary died 

with the RF and died round the corner, and those trees I have had to cut 

down because they are near the powerlines, I had to push them all over, 

all those trees are dead, next to where their transmissions were. 5 

 

 And a similar thing happened at Penny’s (ph 1.30) place where they 

put the large tower back up because when the latest tower goes back up 

the actual level of the signal goes over the top of my place and her trees 

basically died overnight. 10 

 

 So the problem – with increased technology, the signal of all those 

radio towers in streets should be going down because the tumour have 

advanced so much there is no reason ask for more powerline towers 

because with technology, they should be – by best practice, industry 15 

practice, they should be going down, every other industry they are 

getting less and less power, getting more and more efficient, but radio 

stations, they have been producing higher power levels.  These days 

they can talk out of space within a few watts, people do it at home, talk 

to astronauts, there is no reason why you need thousands of kilowatts 20 

of power to produce that. 

 

 The only reason it happens is if you have a louder radio station pushing 

a louder signal, when you tune into the radio you are more likely to 

tune into that one than tune into neighbours which is slightly quieter.  25 

So all they are gaining, is they are gaining an economic advantage over 

the next person, the next radio tower, so on and on it goes.  The next 

person comes along, he has to up his signal to compete economically. 

 

 Also, the effect on cell towers, everywhere there is a high powered, 30 

especially FM power, it knocks out the cell phone signals, the Wi-Fi 

signals, so it is costing a lot more infrastructure for everyone else that 

has to deal with airways, it is costing them a lot more money because 

of a few radio stations that are pushing huge amount of power which 

they do not need to do. 35 

 

 The other thing I would say, there seems to be a conflict of interest 

when the people testing these towers are working for the industry, 

getting money from the industry for testing, and then Council is asking 

these people to do testing for them, and I think Council should be 40 

getting someone that is independent that is not employed by the 

industry to do the testing for them, because it is a straight conflict of 

interest.  I mean whether anything has happened or not, it does not look 

good for the Council, it is not done in other industries so it should not 

really happen. 45 

 



 Page 109 

  

Ch11: Utilities, Energy and Infrastructure – Stage 2 Commenced 02.12.15 

 I would say instead of increasing the microwatt level, it should be 

decreased.  As I have said, the studies from WHO are not relevant to 

their radio towers because they are of lower frequency and they have 

no relevance here.   

 5 

 That is basically all I want to say. 

 

SJH:   All right, thank you very much Mr Robertson.  Ms Huria? 

 

MS HURIA:   Mr Robertson, obviously this has all been going on for quite a 10 

long time. 

 

MR ROBERTSON:   Yes. 

 

MS HURIA:   Can you sum up for me in once sentence why the facility to 15 

transmit has not been moved to Sugarloaf?  

 

MR ROBERTSON:   The FM eventually was relocated to Sugarloaf, but the 

AM, the tower is sitting there, it is costing them no money and AM 

being a little bit different to FM, (a) it is probably not a bad AM site 20 

because of being very low water around.  The only problem is this is 

too waterlogged, this site, and it floods and will take it off – as you can 

see in the photos –  will take it off the air. 

 

MS HURIA:   Given that that is another reason why they should move. 25 

 

  [4.20 pm] 

 

MR ROBERTSON:   Well it is a reason why they should.  All towers 

originally used to be up in the hills.  They used to be Gebbes Pass and 30 

all those radio stations used to be up in the hills, but they found – when 

Radio Avon first came in a few years ago what happened is because it 

was closer to the city, they blasted it louder and stronger than everyone 

else and so more people tuned in – so everyone else decided, “Oh, we 

will move our tower down to the city and be louder and stronger to 35 

compete”  They have exact figures on how strong your signal is to how 

much money you get. 

 

MS HURIA:   Okay, thank you.  Thank you, sir. 

 40 

SJH:   Mr Illingsworth? 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   Yes, one quick question the table of readings that you 

took that went to the Environment Court, are they in your evidence? 

 45 
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MR ROBERTSON:   No, they actually are not in there because I took 

photographs and unfortunately it was not digital. 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   I am talking about the readings, not the photographs. 

 5 

MR ROBERTSON:   I took photographs, it was in the Environment Court. 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   You did not, excuse me, you did not take any digital 

readings? 

 10 

MR ROBERTSON:   I did not take, what I did is – It was not in the 

Environment Court, it was the hearing because they transmitted FM 

illegally for when I first found out they had no licence for FM. 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   No, that is all right, you have answered my question, 15 

thank you. 

 

SJH:   Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   No, I have not any questions, thank you, Mr Robertson. 20 

 

SJH:   Thank you, anything arising from the Panel’s questions? 

 

MS GREY:   No, thank you, sir. 

 25 

SJH:   Thank you, thank you, Mr Robertson, you may stand down, yes, thank 

you, Ms Grey? 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [4.21 pm] 

 30 

MS GREY:   Thank you, I call Jane Zervos. 
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<MS JANE ZERVOS, affirmed [4.21 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MS GREY [4.21 pm] 

 

SJH:   Just sit down. 

 

MS ZERVOS:   Okay. 5 

 

MS GREY:   And your name is Jane Zervos, and you kept your horses right 

next to the radio tower at Ouruhia back in the 1990’s 

 

MS ZERVOS:   Yes. 10 

 

MS GREY:   You prepared a brief of evidence in advance that you have lodged 

with the Hearing Panel? 

 

MS ZERVOS:   Yes. 15 

 

MS GREY:   You confirm that is true and correct? 

 

MS ZERVOS:   Yes. 

 20 

MS GREY:   And you have now prepared a summary to speak to today? 

 

MS ZERVOS:   I am trying, I will try and keep it brief because it has already 

all been written. 

 25 

 I think when we saw the picture there before of the aerial if I could say 

that if you stood at that aerial facing south looking towards the Port 

Hills in Lower Styx Road in 1986 I first went to that property with my 

horse and we started up to the paddocks that was nearest Lower Styx 

Road and we gradually, the lady moved us down so by, it was about 30 

1989 when we moved actually into the paddock containing the aerial. 

 

 I was there until we moved back out to the front of that property near 

Lower Styx Road in 1996 and then later in 1998 I moved the horses 

into Penney’s Farm briefly while we were looking for a lifestyle block 35 

to get out of Christchurch completely. 

 

 I was around that whole area at that time.  I would like to say that I 

spent approximately four to five hours a day with the horse so probably 

the point there to make without going into all the nitty gritty is the fact 40 

that you do not actually have to be living in that area to get the effects.  

It was, what would you call that, a sixth of a day that I would be there 

on an almost daily basis, yes, it would be a daily basis.  I very rarely 

missed a day seeing him. 

 45 
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 I was one of the Dr Hocking selected witnesses who after reading my 

health records diagnosed symptoms of microwave sickness and I was 

asked to give evidence at the 1999 Environment Court.  I will not go 

into all the details of the symptoms and that sort of thing, it is still all 

there documented.  I have wonderful health records where it is all 5 

documented and it began in January 1990 when I went to my doctor 

and said I am sick, and I do not feel well, I am extremely tired and it 

just carried on from there, you know specialists on and on, to the point 

where I did collapse and I had to give up work, which actually 

ironically I spent more time down there because I just go down there, it 10 

was a lovely environment and I would sit and look at the horses 

wondering why I was like that. 

 

  [4.25 pm] 

 15 

 Going to the effects of the horses, they were pretty much the same as 

Penny’s, I think what needs to be said there is, that when I moved them 

out from – when I moved them in 1998 I think it was, into Penny’s 

property just before we left completely, their health deteriorated 

further, and again I will not go into all that because it is all written 20 

down. But I would like to mention this because I find it interesting 

myself in a world where people are so angry and doing such horrible 

things to each other. 

 

 My horse was a gelding, I had him all his life, I had bred him, I taught 25 

him to accept rider and saddle, I do not like to use the word “broken 

in”, and in Penny’s property his gentle good nature changed, he became 

extremely bolshie and hard to handle. It was so noticeable that my 

friend who owned the mare that stayed with him, his paddock mate 

Nara, and she had also known Casey for years, she commented to me 30 

that she was afraid of him and, yes, it was just not right, and when I 

moved him from Penny’s property and he returned to his normal easy 

going self, he never displayed that attitude again and he lived till he 

was 31 which is a great age for a horse. So I sort of feel that is very, 

very significant. 35 

 

 And the other thing that was significant was before I took my gelding 

and my friend’s mare away from Penny’s property permanently, they 

both had blood samples taken off them by veterinarian Cliff McGruther 

(ph 2.16), the first bloods came up were pre-cancerous, but six months 40 

after they had moved we had more blood test done to see how they had 

changed and the second batch showed a very marked improvement in 

their health. 

 

 The mare, Nara, although she was not old she never recovered 45 

properly, her feet got damaged and never recovered and from what we 
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now know was the very high RF/EMR exposure and although we tried 

everything we eventually had to have her put to sleep, but my old boy 

made it to 31, so. 

 

 In 2004 I had a non-malignant growth removed from my uterus, it was 5 

two thirds the size of a baby’s head. My specialist commented that he 

did not see them this big very often and, I have to say I do feel very 

lucky to be alive, and as well as I am and it is really hard seeing, you 

know, all the people around that tower, are pretty much either sick or 

dead or have moved away, and I understand Penny and Sophie have 10 

had brain and bowel tumours removed last year. 

 

 I understand Mr Thompson who built on the land in front of the tower 

who was in front of Barry, also died of a brain tumour in 2015, and the 

farmer who the tumour was similar also to the brain tumour of another 15 

farmer who owned in the land northwest of the tower. 

 

 I would also like to say that I was shocked to hear in 1998 that the 

exposure under the Ouruhia tower where I sat sometimes at the fence, it 

looks like quite different now, it was a very exposed site back then, and 20 

the fence around the tower was really the only shelter and boy we used 

it, you know even when it snowed, the 91, we fed the horses around it 

because it would stop the hay blowing away. 

 

 And as I was just saying before in 1998, I sat at that fence and at times 25 

had my baby, my new baby on the rug, round near that tower while I 

was riding, you know so I could watch him, and at that time that was 

1900 microwatts per centimetre of the Christchurch standard, the safe 

exposure is 50, so you can understand perhaps maybe why I feel deep 

mistrust for the industries like radio network and also the ones that we 30 

think that are there to keep us safe because I do not really think they are 

or they do. What else can I say, I am sort of, again, without going into 

the nitty gritty, that really sort of covers it.   

 

  [4.30 pm] 35 

 

 I have had time to reflect on what happened at Ouruhia and I have 

watched the sickness there and in our country grow.  It seems to be an 

intrinsic part of our societies now and our economies and we seem to 

accept them as normal.  I do not think it is, I do not think it is normal at 40 

all and I do not really want to think we even want to think about causal 

effects because it would force us to have to act.  I think we almost 

become blinded by science and I think I would just like to leave it 

there. 

 45 
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 It is quite difficult to come in to do these things but I do have a love for 

humanity and sometimes it makes me be brave and what I am doing 

here is being brave, so thank you very much for listening. 

 

MS GREY:   Thank you, Jane, can you answer any questions - - - 5 

 

SJH:   Just pause a moment.  Ms Huria? 

 

MS HURIA:   Just thank you for sharing your stories, no questions.  

 10 

MS ZERVOS:   Okay, thank you. 

 

SJH:   Mr Illingsworth? 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   No questions. 15 

 

SJH:   Just pause a moment. 

 

MS ZEVOS:   Okay, sorry. 

 20 

SJH:   Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   No, I have not got any questions, but thank you very much 

for coming in and talking to us. 

 25 

SJH:   Again, thank you for participating in the process. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [4.31 pm] 

 

MS GREY:   Thank you, sir.  The next witness is Marina Wylaars. 30 
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<MARINA WYLAARS, affirmed [4.32 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MS GREY [4.32 pm] 

 

MS GREY:   Can you confirm your name is Marina Wylaars and you were a 

resident in the Ouruhia area? 

 5 

MS WYLAARS:   Yes, I am, yes. 

 

MS GREY:   And you have prepared a brief of evidence that has been lodged 

with the Panel? 

 10 

MS WYLAARS:   I have. 

 

MS GREY:   And you have prepared a summary to talk about today? 

 

MS WYLAARS:   Yes, I have. 15 

 

MS GREY:   And can you show on the map where your property was 

compared to the radio tower, please? 

 

MS WYLAARS:  Yes.  So the two properties that I am referring to will be 561 20 

and 571 Marshland Road, probably about two kilometres from the 

tower.  So you have got 561 is right there, and 571 is just three 

properties up the road. 

 

 So my parents lived in 561 Marshland Road and my sister lived in 571 25 

Marshland Road during the time that Dr Neil Cherry was investigating 

the microwave frequencies that were travelling from that tower.  He 

was concerned about exposure for the local residents and I currently 

live in 561 Marshland Road but my mother and my sister have both 

passed away so for a long time I have actually, a bit like what you were 30 

saying, denied that this might be a problem but when Penny 

approached me about giving evidence today I was quite happy because 

there has been the story in our family that around what was happening 

during the Environment Court – battle, I was going to say – to look at 

the effect of the waves from the tower.   35 

 

 So in our family, in both houses people slept in the second story and 

anecdotally I believe that the microwaves or the waves might be more 

powerful in the second story, I do not have scientific evidence to verify 

that but I am just saying that so there was also higher readings recorded 40 

two kilometres from the tower because I think there are peaks as it goes 

across the land.   
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  [4.35 pm] 

 

 Also I understand that prior to the Environment Court they were 

standing waves, that the tower actually was sending the frequencies and 

not moving them very much so some people were actually have a very 5 

large effect in their bedrooms.  Like you could be in one place and if 

the standing wave went through there then you were actually being 

exposed quite a lot and after the Environment Court I think they had to 

move them. 

 10 

 Now for me it is all anecdotal evidence, it is stuff that I have heard.  So 

I think Penny may have a map and you will see that one of the beam 

paths or whatever was quite close to my sister’s house.  So my sister 

had a baby in 1992 and she had a neurological heart defect and at the 

time there were two babies born in the area or maybe three who all had 15 

heart defects.  So the baby’s heart would race and she had to be put on 

ice, like it was a primal response, put the baby on ice to bring the heart 

rate down.  So that was a very big problem for a long, long time.  I 

think she had surgery when she was about 16, which has actually 

mitigated the issue. 20 

 

 So her mother developed melanoma and died in 2000.  My brother who 

stayed in their house in 1994 was sleeping upstairs and he believed that 

every time he went upstairs he could feel the amalgam in his fillings 

tingling from the – well, he doesn’t know what was causing that but he 25 

assumes it was possibly from electromagnetic radiation intensity in that 

area. 

 

 I also have a sister who has got a very clearly well-developed electro 

sensitivity and my father has developed bladder cancer.  So there is 30 

quite a lot of, I think there is sort of quite a high rate of ill health that 

has kind of happened in our family. 

 

 Dr Kerdemelidis talked about being exposed for too long and I think 

actually for females in the house, like it was my mother and my sister, 35 

they were both home bodies living in the house, and I suspect they 

were the ones that developed the issues not the male members of the 

households.  Yes, that is just anecdotal.   

 

 Just a few other things that people have talked to me about since I have 40 

kind of indicated that I am going to do this was that the safety standard 

for microwave per square centimetre has gone up, it was 50 is it 

microwatts per square centimetre, is that right? 

 

SJH:   Well, it is your evidence. 45 
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MS WYLAARS:    I know, I know but I am just saying like I am not a scientist 

and I have got 50 mW per square centimetre.  In 1999 the New Zealand 

standard went up to 200 mWs per square metre and in other countries 

the standard is 10 centimetres or even 0.0-something mWs per square 

centimetre. So that we actually have quite a high threshold in 5 

New Zealand and that is being applied in this radio tower.   

 

 This standard has not been reviewed for 18 years so, yes, I just think it 

is probably time for us to start looking at what we are actually exposing 

our local, you know, the people in our community to.  There was also a 10 

biomarker research done in Christchurch Hospital with people from 

Ouruhia and their LH and FSH hormones had increased before and 

after the power had been changed on the radio tower.  That is all I 

know but maybe that is some evidence that people might like to follow 

up or be interested in. 15 

 

  [4.40 pm] 

 

 The thing that I am really intrigued about is that the land under the 

tower was sold for $317 million.  I think that is an extraordinary 20 

amount of money to pay for something, and I just cannot comprehend 

why it is so important to have a tower there - - - 

 

SJH:   Sorry, you are saying the land where the tower is was sold for $317 

million? 25 

 

MS WYLAARS:   Yes, it is unbelievable. 

 

SJH:   Is that not the price paid to Radio New Zealand by the radio network? 

 30 

MS WYLAARS:   Yes. 

 

MR……….:   I thought it was 89. 

 

MS……….:   May I speak, sir. 35 

 

SJH:   You will have a chance when you give evidence.  

 

MS……….:   (INDISTINCT 0.32) does not know. 

 40 

MS……….:   No. 

 

SJH:   Well, if you do not know, just leave it to the witnesses, we know then - - 

- 

 45 

MS……….:   Oh, well I am just - - - 
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MS WYLAARS:   Okay, if I do not know if I am going to raise it. 

 

 The other thing that I just want to talk about is the lichen.  I definitely 

have noticed that there is variable lichen and alga growth, is it lichen, 5 

in different places and in my evidence I have shown a photo of a tree or 

several trees on our property actually, that have died.  And yesterday I 

was at the Belfast Cemetery and there were two headstones covered in 

lichen, and I did not get a photo of them but I looked up and in the 

distance I could see the tower and the headstones on either side did not 10 

have much lichen.  So for some reason, when something is exposed to 

the beam power on this tower, there seems to be an increase in lichen 

which is affecting the trees.  I do not know much more about that. 

 

 So I just concur with the submitters that we have a right to live in a safe 15 

environment and not be subjected to manmade hazards. 

 

 It seems to me that a logical place for the transmitter is in the Port 

Hills, and I would request that the Council make provision in its 

Replacement Plan for a resource inquiry into the continuing ill health 20 

that Ouruhia residents seem to be facing. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Just wait and we will see if there are any questions.  

Ms Huria? 

 25 

MS HURIA:   No, thank you. 

 

SJH:   Mr Illingsworth? 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   No questions, thank you. 30 

 

SJH:   Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:  No questions and thank you too for coming. 

 35 

SJH:   Thank you, you may stand down. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [4.31 pm] 

 

SJH:   Yes. 40 

 

MS GREY:   Thank you, my next witness is Lynda Dawber. 
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<LYNDA DAWBER, affirmed [4.42 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MS GREY [4.43 pm] 

 

MS GREY:   And can you confirm that your name is Lynda Dawber and you 

are a resident in the Ouruhia area? 

 5 

MS DAWBER:   Yes, that is correct. 

 

MS GREY:   And you have prepared evidence in advance of the Hearing that 

has been lodged with the Panel? 

 10 

MS DAWBER:   Yes. 

 

MS GREY:   And you confirm that is true and correct? 

 

MS DAWBER:   Yes. 15 

 

MS GREY:   And you have got a summary to present today? 

 

MS DAWBER:   Yes. 

 20 

MS GREY:   Before you start would you point out where your property is on 

the map please? 

 

MS DAWBER:   676 Marshland Road which is right to the block west of 

Ouruhia School, so we are 11.4 kilometres from – that’s right, it is just 25 

right where the dot is.  The tower is 1.4 kilometres from my property.  

 

SJH:   Thank you. 

 

MS DAWBER:   We, at the time of all this Environment Court stuff, I was in 30 

baby mode and we had quite good health.  Our property at the time was 

covered in fruit trees and we were led to believe and told that we were 

safe because the radio waves bounced off the trees and we were 

(INDISTINCT 4.34) area. 

 35 

 What we have noticed, or what I have noticed in recent years, is where 

lichen used to grow and quite thickly, it does not now, and it grows in 

quite different areas.  The lichen was so bad at our place that it 

completely killed a whole block of our fruit trees and we systematically 

watched these trees die over a period of two summers, or two years, but 40 

the lichen just suddenly grew one day and it did not stop growing and 

there was no industry explanation as to why it appeared and nothing 

actually even stopped its growth, no chemicals, no nothing. So that was 

quite a financial blow to us, as the fruit was quite valuable at the time. 

 45 

  [4.45 pm] 
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 I would like to talk a bit more about all the dead trees and just put a 

PowerPoint and there is a map – I have made some copies of some 

maps so you can actually follow it around the district where the photos 

were taken. 5 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 

 

MS DAWBER:   So we are starting at number one which is the property right 

next to and bounds onto the radio tower and there is quite a lot of dead 10 

trees around here so everything but the numbers on the slides relate to 

the numbers on the map, so we can quickly flick through everything 

that has number one on it and you will see the radio tower is very close, 

and all these – and you can see the yellow lichen. 

 15 

 Now I stood at quite distance when I took these photos and you can see 

the yellow lichen quite quickly and quite clearly I should say, and as 

you can see I am standing in one spot and you can see dead trees 

further and further and further along, and we are you know sort of into 

the distance – bit of a close up showing more yellow lichen – now I am 20 

still in the same spot, looking along - now I have just turned a wee bit 

further around, still more or less in the same spot, so I am looking in a 

different direction, and these are quite big trees that have actually died 

not that long ago, and they are gum trees and this seems to affect – we 

got a lot of gums and a lot of pine trees round the district that have just 25 

shown quite bad lichen and died. 

 

 Now this tree had a lot of bad lichen on it and in recent times the lichen 

has dropped off and the tree has recovered and it is right beside a tin 

shed, same with these ones over the barn, they have actually recovered 30 

and the lichen has disappeared. 

 

 Now the tree on the right is a big walnut tree and on the right hand side 

it is quite lush and full of leaves and on the left hand side it is very sort 

of – the leaves and it looks very burnt and the leaves are very small – 35 

and if you look just across the house you can see more dead trees going 

in that same line. 

 

 And we just going to do some quick close ups of the walnut tree and 

you can see it almost looks like two different trees but it is not, it is the 40 

same one – lush growth on the right hand side – and this is where the 

growth actually has slowed and you can see the lichen on the branches, 

it is really been quite detrimental, and you can see the radio tower in 

the background and literally no leaves on some of the trees, it is quite 

scorched looking. 45 
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 And all I have done is turned round and looking with the radio tower 

behind me and more dead trees in the background which is, I walked 

out onto the road and these are the trees you could see over the house. 

 

 The next slide shows lush trees either side and the dead trees in the 5 

middle, now just beyond the dead trees you probably might not be able 

to see, is another road perpendicular and there is a whole lot of dead 

trees with lush trees either side so it is like a scorched line has gone 

through, now that was number two which was across the road. 

 10 

 Number three is just a wee bit further down Lower Styx Road, and you 

can see more scorching/more lichen, so that is on – basically if you 

have a look at your map, that is on the same – more or less the same 

sort of line. 

 15 

  [4.50 pm] 

 

 Number four is down in the Janet Stewart Reserve which is opposite 

where Marina lives, and the tops of the trees are quite bare of any 

vegetation, quite scorched, quite badly affected.  20 

 

 And it has completely killed one tree or actually several trees, as you 

can see.  I have again have just turned around, so we are looking back 

the other way towards Marshland Road.  That is just another over Janet 

Stewart looking, it has not affected the – it has only affected the trees 25 

not the actual flax, which I thought was rather interesting. 

 

 This is looking across the road, over the river from Marina’s, and in the 

same line as number 1, 3, 4, 5, we are on number 5, is more dead trees 

in there.   30 

 

 And number 6, we are now down on the corner of Walters and Preston 

Road.  This does not actually show it, but there is actually quite a lot of, 

it was really hard to get a photo, there is actually quite a line on that 

corner, and of course I couldn’t go tromping through peoples private 35 

properties, but there is quite definite areas of trees that are completely 

dead and then either side the hedge row is alive and kicking. 

 

 Just coming back a bit, you can see in the background the trees that I 

could not actually photograph properly.  Now this is on Radcliffe Road, 40 

and this is on like a completely different angle and in the background 

you can see over the shed, that is actually quite a big walnut tree, and it 

has completely knocked all the leaves and everything off it.  Everything 

else around it is alive and that has not survived at all.   

 45 
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 Right, number 8, it has not been marked in red, is up just below number 

11 – now we are on Belfast Road, and this is really indicative of hedge 

rows - and the next couple of slides show you that hedge rows, just a 

large section of them are dead.  And then you go into, and across the 

road you have got sections of dead, and either side they are alive.  The 5 

tower is eastward in this photo. 

 

 And now we are in Blakes Road, which is another particularly bad area.  

These are pines, they are not dead at the moment, they are just looking 

scorched and have gone yellow.  And just perpendicular to the previous 10 

photo you can see the yellowing of the foliage, and yet everything else 

around it is quite normal.  Now, if there is disease in these trees it 

would go right through the trees, it would not just be in a small area. 

 

 I have just turned around and I am in the same area.  This particular 15 

corner, both the left hand side and the right hand side – large areas of 

hedge row have died.  These are all pines, and this is across the road 

and across the paddock.  Now the trees along this paddock have died on 

the inside of the paddock facing the tower.  On the roadside where the 

powerlines are, they have got a bit of green on them.   20 

 

 Now number 10 is Radcliffe Road, which is just along a bit further, and 

there is quite a clump of dead trees, not like the hedge row where it is 

bigger areas, these are just clumps of. 

 25 

 Number 11, we are now up in Guthries Road, you can see the tower 

now, you cannot always see the tower from some of these photos, but 

we are now actually physically closer to the tower and you can see how 

the trees have dipped a bit in height, they are not all the same height 

and they have lost their foliage. 30 

 

  [4.55 pm] 

 

 This is across the paddock so we are now looking away from the tower 

and this is the corner of Turners and Teapes Road, now we are actually 35 

really close to the tower, you can practically spit on it.  We have now 

got a narrowing effect of trees so closer to the tower you go the 

narrower the band of dead vegetation, the further away you go from the 

tower the wider the band. 

 40 

 The site of the tower through the trees and we are actually a lot closer, 

we are only a few hundred metres away from the tower just here and 

they are gum trees as well.  Now we are back on Marshland Road at 

number 14 which is quite near my place and what I have done here is I 

have taken a picture looking across the paddock and you can see the 45 

clump that is dead. 
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 The next slide, all I have done is turned around and you can see the 

tower across through the trees and across the paddock there.  We must 

be just about finished are we, is that the last one?  Like other residents 

in the area I have had a level two malignant tumour removed, it was not 5 

melanoma, it was a skin cancer and it was a rearrangement of the 

chromosomes.   

 

 We have had other health issues which are documented so that is about 

all I have, I just wanted to raise your awareness of, there is a lot of dead 10 

vegetation around it a lot more at the moment, around the district than 

there ever used to be. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Ms Dawber, Ms Huria? 

 15 

MS HURIA:   No, thank you, sir. 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   No questions. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you, thank you for taking all the photos and bringing 20 

them to us, the photos you have taken, and this sort of increasing 

pattern of dead vegetation, has that been more since, well in the last 

five years say since the period of the earthquakes for example? 

 

MS DAWBER:   Some has, yes, with disruption of the soil underneath, yes, 25 

that is a given.  These tend to be, if you look at the map, I was quite 

surprised, this tend to be a line rather than just here, there and 

everywhere.  The interesting thing is they have not been removed. Now 

when trees were displaced or affected from the earthquake most people 

chopped them out whereas these are still standing.  Yes, being a 30 

horticulturalist it does not appear to me to be at least you cannot say 

they have been uprooted by the earthquake. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you, thank you very much. 

 35 

SJH:   Thank you, anything arising? 

 

MS GREY:   No, thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Ms Dawber, you can stand down.  Yes. 40 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [4.59 pm] 

 

MS GREY:   Thank you, sir and the final witness is Ms Penny Hargreaves. 

45 
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<PENNY HARGREAVES, sworn [4.59 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MS GREY [4.59 pm] 

 

MS GREY:   Thank you sir, I appreciate the time, are you happy to continue 

slightly later tonight, sir? 

 5 

SJH:   Well we have to, we have no other time, that is why we try to get people 

to work within the 10 minute highlights package. 

 

MS GREY:   Yes, sir.  I understand, Ms Hargreaves will do her best although 

she has got many years of well documented material so it is quite a big 10 

ask for her. 

 

SJH:   Well it has all been put in and we have had the opportunity to read it. 

 

MS GREY:   Thank you, sir.  Is your name Penny Hargreaves and you are a 15 

resident near the Ouruhia Tower? 

 

MS HARGREAVES:   I am. 

 

MS GREY:   You have prepared a statement that has been lodged in advance 20 

with the Panel? 

 

MS HARGREAVES:   I have. 

 

  [5.00 pm] 25 

 

MS GREY:   And you confirm that that is true and correct? 

 

MS HARGREAVES:   I do. 

 30 

MS GREY:   And also you have submitted a large number of documents 

supporting the information in your evidence? 

 

MS HARGREAVES:   I have. 

 35 

MS GREY:   And you have prepared a 10 minute or so summary for today to 

summarise the key points? 

 

MS HARGREAVES:   Thank you. 

 40 

MS GREY:   And can you point out on the map please where your house is? 

 

MS HARGREAVES:   Where that white sheet is, is where my vegetables are 

being grown there and I come back, the boundary is just the green part 

just above that, and it runs back through the vegetables where you see 45 

all that cultivated land, if you keep coming back towards the road, that 



 Page 129 

  

Ch11: Utilities, Energy and Infrastructure – Stage 2 Commenced 02.12.15 

all cultivated land is mine and then you get to the grass part, come back 

to the road and that is mine as well.  So where the cultivated land ends 

on the left.   

 

 Now, the property that Linda actually showed with the dead walnut tree 5 

across the top of the cottage and is immediately above where that 

yellow – no, that is the neighbour’s property, I am back to the left 

where that yellowy bit is.  I don’t know what the yellowy bit, it is 

probably the - - - 

 10 

MS GREY:   That is your tree. 

 

MS HARGREAVES:   The dead walnut tree.  Yes, it is amazing how it looks 

from above, that is extraordinary.  I would actually like to say that the 

trees at my property which have died, as you saw what Linda showed, 15 

they actually died overnight when the large 358 foot radio tower was 

re-erected, they just died overnight.  I think there are certain trees that 

are more affected by the radiation than others.  One is pine trees, I 

gather from what the experts told me is that each pine needle acts an 

antenna.  I don’t know why the walnut trees seem to be so vulnerable.  20 

Lombardy poplars are very vulnerable because they have very long 

sticky stems and so they act as an antenna as well.   

 

 My walnut tree this year, it is this year and it has only just happened in 

the last, you know, as it has come into leaf, that the part where the 25 

frequency comes through on the angle as you saw on there, has been 

like this and the trees actually tell the story.  They are actually telling 

the story.  We had Denise Ward got the licences that she had where the 

frequencies were focused, from the licences she has had it mapped and 

that is what those black lines are actually on that map to show where it 30 

is actually focused through to. 

 

 In 1999, after the Environment Court hearing, the Radio Network 

applied to actually increase the power to the northwest and it was only 

after that time that Linda’s family started to become very ill and they 35 

had problems.  There is a real pattern to what is actually happening is 

that where there is radio frequency interference and electronic 

equipment there is harm to people, harm to animals and harm to the 

trees and the plants and the whole environment.  Where the electronic 

interference is not the people seem to all right.  So they are actually in 40 

between where the beams are and the beams are very focused and it is 

very unusual for this radio tower because the FM is actually focused 

uphill as far as Lake Coleridge and Timaru, it goes through Oxford 

across to Grasmere and as far up as Waipara.  So it is going onto rising 

ground which is why it requires 40 times more power than when it is 45 

actually up on top of Sugar Loaf. 
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 The pattern at my farm, when I first bought it in 1992, I had come back 

from England, I was terribly excited about buying this, we were setting 

up a horse centre.  I have been quite successful with horses in the past 

in Australia, New Zealand and England.  They did not die from neglect, 5 

there had to be some other outside influence and the only outside 

influence that seems to make sense is what we are looking at with the 

radio tower. 

 

 Now, Martin Gledhill said that he relied on Professor Elwood’s 10 

evidence in setting the standard.  I would like to say that I have actually 

got Professor Elwood’s research that he did at Ouruhia, I have got all 

the Environment Court papers that were given to us after that hearing 

and I have also got thousands of the late Dr Cherry’s papers.  A lot of 

them were put into the University and a lot of them were given to me to 15 

store and that is why you have been bombarded and you are lucky you 

have not got a thousand more, that is actually saying within the 

New Zealand standard is it not safe, because the research shows it is 

not safe.  

 20 

 Professor Elwood has put this presentation into the 1999 Environment 

Court hearing.  He must have done it statistically from cancer death 

records because in 1999 he did it so I guess he would not have had the 

records, would not have gone further back the 1997.  He did it within 

two kilometres within the cancer incidents, and the cancer incidents, he 25 

said they were statistically slightly higher than the rest of New Zealand. 

 

  [5.05 pm] 

 

 Now, I looked at it and read it all, because I have read it all very 30 

carefully and then I looked and I thought 468 people, he had done it 

within two kilometres of the radio tower.  He had said “I have done 

within two kilometres, 468 people.”  And I thought, we do not have 

468 people living here, I went around and counted and at that time 

there would have been a maximum of 320 people living there which 35 

means that his cancer statistics were much higher than the rest of New 

Zealand. 

 

 And what we have also understood is that the cancer does not actually 

usually show itself until 20 years later, this is what all the researchers 40 

say, and this has been very prevalent in the last two years.  My 

daughter got a brain tumour 18 months ago which when she was 

actually out at Ouruhia she was a very healthy, very attractive girl and 

she suddenly developed this twitching in her eyes which was just like 

she was a rabbit and one of the horses started developing the same 45 

thing.  It was extraordinary, and she would not go out anywhere 
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because people kept saying the whole side of her face was going like 

this. 

 

 Anyway, that is the side of the face where the tumour has come.  Now, 

one of the things that is now allowed for in the New Zealand Standard 5 

is the interaction with metal, Martin says with corrugated irons and 

buildings but if you happened to be near corrugated iron buildings and 

you are wearing metal, her riding hat had a metal buckle right here, that 

is exactly where the tumour is.  I used to wear wire-rimmed glasses 

across my nose, I have had cancer at the top removed there and I used 10 

to push it down here,  ore cancer here, this was all quite recent to it. 

 

 I had an underwire brazier, big lumps right underneath exactly in the 

line of the metal so if you are actually in that area you have not just got 

what is coming from the radiated part, you have actually got the 15 

interaction not just to the reflections from the building, you have got 

the multiplication of what you are actually wearing.   

 

 I had very valuable race hooves, they are my own and other people’s 

and their feet became malformed and we did not know why.  We were 20 

told by Martin that the readings were so low they could not possibly 

affect us.  Those horses feet – I had one I bought, he was a very good 

racehorse, he won so much money in Hong Kong they offered me 

$300,000.  They have a very, very rigorous betting and they could not 

work out why he was walking like a cat on hot bricks.  His feet were 25 

being cooked, the metal hooks, the feet, Dr Black actually said the 

horses hooves would be more affected because of the wet ground.  

 

 So if you put a wet hand on a plug you might get a shock, if you put a 

dry one on, you probably will not.  This was, the horse was shoe was 30 

aluminium and the reflection was there.  So this is not actually allowed 

for in the standard.  

 

 So the pattern of what we are actually looking at there was in 1996 

when Dr Cherry came to see me.  He said to me, look, we actually had 35 

the police watch on our property for six months because the horses 

were falling over, could not get up, nobody knew what was wrong with 

them, they were getting great big swollen legs, they could not bend 

them.  These were very valuable racehorses including a horse that was 

second in the Melbourne Cup.  And quite terrifying what we are 40 

actually looking at, you go up there and the horse is dead and the police 

could not work out, the vets could not work out what was going on so 

the police came, watched us for six months because they thought we 

were doing so well with our horses it was malicious harm.   

 45 
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 Well, nobody asked about the radio tower and the records we have 

actually got now is that each time the horses had particularly bad times 

was when the power was increased.  We have got the power records 

that are actually in the documents, I think they were on six, I am sorry, 

I am trying to talk without reading through the things not to waste your 5 

time.  

 

 All the wildlife vanished – when I first went there in ’92, the whole 

place was abundant with growth and birds and bees and worms and 

everything and as we got sicker the birds all completely vanished, the 10 

only birds that stayed were the fantails that were under the trees and the 

pukeko and I think because they are low down in the long grass.  The 

rest completely vanished, it was like silent spring.  No worms, no bugs, 

no bees, nothing, and the animals are getting sick, and us getting sick.   

 15 

 And Dr Cherry actually called up because we had radio frequency 

interference on everything, we did not know about the sick people and 

then Barry went and had a meeting with the Council and they asked 

him to ask who got radio frequency interference because under the 

terms of the consent they had to fix the radio frequency interference on 20 

electronic equipment.  I could not use my fax, I could not use my 

phone, I would ring them up and say I have got radio blaring down my 

phone, Linda had radio blaring down her metal chimney after they 

increased the power in 2000, she was fine until then and her health was 

well. 25 

 

  [5.10 pm] 

 

 So Dr Cherry said to me when he came up to see me because we then 

found out there was radio frequency interference, there were actually 30 

very sick people, clusters of sick people and sick animals, and he said 

to me, “I have been doing all this research from the Ilam cellphone 

tower” and he said “I have researched (INDISTINCT 0.29) and 

different radio towers Scuderia and he said “the effects they have got 

are exactly the same as what you people have got”. 35 

 

 I said, “I do not believe you”, I said “I do not believe that what has 

happened to my animals could possibly be caused by exposure to 

electromagnetic radiation, go away”, and then after he had gone I 

thought, “Oh, gosh you know he is a Physicist and I am just a horse 40 

trainer, and organic farmer”. 

 

 So anyway, I had this excruciating pain in my legs – not all over – it 

was like someone was shooting a bullet through here and here, it was 

so painful, and I thought, “Oh well, you know I am not very well, I 45 

have not been away because I …” – before I used to be able run around 
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the farm and I could not even lift a bucket of water, I could walk 20 

metres and I had to sit down. 

 

 My doctor who is actually put a little note into the back of the one that 

actually – I think it is attachment 3 – he actually said, you know, I went 5 

from an incredibly fit looking person within two years to virtually an 

old lady and he could not see that there could be any cause for it except 

something in the environment. Well everything in the environment was 

looked at very carefully, anything in the environment, how could 

anything in the environment do what was happening?  10 

 

 So anyway I went and stayed with my mother and I went and stayed 

through the night and the bone pain it went away instantly, so I thought 

“this is really weird, I still had the asthma, I still had heart palpitations 

and I still felt weak and awful”. I went to the library, I thought “Oh, I 15 

better find out”, and I started reading this information which is actually 

printed in the “Hidden Dangers” document of Dr Beckett’s, I thought 

“my goodness that is what we have all got, he is absolutely right”, so I 

rang him up and apologised profusely. 

 20 

 So when people say to me “I do not believe that frequencies can affect 

you like that, I do not believe they can kill trees, animals, people, cause 

this harm”, and I say “I did not believe it either”, I did not believe it 

because what you cannot see think, you know feel or taste, but then as I 

actually got better, I then started to suffer from something which is 25 

called “radio frequency hearing” and I thought I was going mad 

because after we had left the farm which we abandoned in 1996 

because we were told the Council was actually going to do a thorough 

investigation, which the history will actually tell you it did not happen. 

 30 

 And I then found that in certain areas I would start to feel old, like 

could not breathe, tight chest, giddy, bright red in the face and my dog 

she had been out in Ouruhia as well in those same areas, they would 

run around the car crying as if they were actually in pain and – anyway 

I was going backwards and forwards all the time, I found that every 35 

single time I went through it was always the same places I had the 

effects, I sort of marked on the map and then I got someone to drive me 

around the dark and I marked on the map where I was actually getting 

this happening. 

 40 

 And for 10 kilometres away, I was getting this line of like going in a 

line of where I was reacting to the radio frequency, and I thought I was 

going mad as anybody would think but, and the circumference of the 

radio tower I drove around it and exactly the same effect, now that is 

exactly the same areas as we are looking at these dead trees. 45 
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 And we have tried to document with a camera and not very 

successfully and probably bored you to tears, we had actually got a 

professional video person and these effects are going out with the dead 

trees as far out as Eyrewell, so where the tree line goes through, we 

have not been any further out, and it is closed in from my farm, it is 5 

very narrow, just a couple of trees dead, then as it gets out the band 

widens, and you are looking at a whole like hundred metres of dead 

trees and it is all where the frequencies actually focused and it is quite 

incredible what we are actually looking at. 

 10 

 So we are going to get professional video to do it properly where we 

follow each beam line, do it and we are going to send to the World 

Health Organisation and we are going to ask for an inquiry because to 

me this is pretty compelling evidence. 

 15 

 One of the other things we are actually – if you can go to document 5 

of my evidence – the trees were all very bad until 2000 we had all this 

lichen growing over all the trees across the farm, they looked 

absolutely appalling, the whole farm was like shrivelled, you would 

walk across the ground and the grass would crackle, it was just 20 

shocking. 

 

 Anyway, you can see the difference though, we took photographs of 

the trees, the first one here was the same – sorry, this is number 5 here 

and – have you got it – yes – have you got it Mr Illingworth? 25 

 

  [5.15 pm] 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   Yes, just on the screen. 

 30 

MS HARGREAVES:   Right. Okay, so this particular tree was the same tree 

and the elder on the left was behind the hedge, so it was not exposed.  

The one to the right was all shrivelled up, the leaves and the flowers 

were small and they were very yellow.  Now the research actually 

shows that the frequencies, you know, they interfere with the 35 

magnesium and this is what we are seeing here, is that the trees are 

going very yellow where the frequencies go through. 

 

 Now I have got a bit stand of pine trees up on the hill which again were 

quite high and thick.  The trees literally, they sort of coiled away from 40 

the frequency, it was quite extraordinary – if you can just go up a wee 

bit with the one I have got here, you cannot actually see the ones just 

pushed up a wee bit – there, you see the trees – that one there on the 

right had no leaves on at all in 1996, it was completely – and it was 

twisting away from it, and then there was another one of the big ones 45 
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down the bottom, it is very hard to film pine trees but again, you can 

see it is twisting away from it. 

 

 And it is quite extraordinary because you are seeing trees that are 

actually writhing away from where the trees are directed. 5 

 

 This is another walnut tree and you can actually see the lichen on the 

tree.  When the radio tower was taken down in – when it fell down in – 

or it did not fall down, it sank and then it was actually -  - - 

 10 

SJH:   Yes, we have been told about that. 

 

MS HARGREAVES:   Demolished, yes it was demolished, yes. 

 

SJH:   Try not to repeat what we have already heard. 15 

 

MS HARGREAVES:   What I am trying to say is when it was taken down, the 

lichen all fell off the trees, it just fell off the trees, and the photographs 

of the ones that Lynda was actually showing to you, if you see on 535, 

you will see that the lichen, the yellow on the trees is all there. 20 

 

 Then when you go further over to 536, you will see the same trees, the 

lichen has actually fallen off, so when the trees are exposed to the 

lichen – to the radio tower or radio waves, they grow lichen and when 

the radio tower was taken down, for two years there was no lichen, and 25 

you can see the same effect on 538 where all the trees were like this 

except this one which was protected from it.  And so, you know, the 

whole farm was like that. 

 

 Now the trees actually tell the story and it is very frightening what we 30 

are actually looking at, and the one below the gallery of shame, which 

is 6, was where, I think it (INDISTINCT 2.41) his name is Dr – I can’t 

remember now what his name was – Dr Walker, and he did research 

around cell phone towers and found increased deaths of people in the 

same sort focus lines of what was actually growing on that. 35 

 

 Now you come to – I am sorry for it to be a tatty photograph, I had lost 

my computer and I could not download a better one, you can actually 

see where all the numbers are on this which is number 4 – have you got 

the one with the photograph of the (INDISTINCT 3.06), and you can 40 

actually see the numbers.  The horses only died in certain locations or 

got sick, the people only got sick in certain locations, the cows got very 

sick in certain locations and the symptoms they suffered from were 

exactly the same as the other cows who were on the other side of the 

road.  45 
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 The ones that were moved away out of 30 on the other side of the road, 

they actually survived.  The 15 that stayed died, the two farmers who 

were looking after those, the cows apparently had very bad liver 

problems, I have got the vet’s analysis if you want it, and the farmers 

who were actually farming that land, one died of, he had very serious 5 

liver problems in his stomach, he died of a heart attack and his other 

brother has had a double liver transplant, and he has now got eye 

cancer. 

 

 What you are actually looking at in the whole area, the last photograph 10 

Lynda showed you, the man died of leukaemia in that house, he had 

been growing barley at my farm. 

 

 The man who farmed on the other side of the radio tower on the right 

hand side, he has now got leukaemia.  We have got this huge pattern in 15 

the last 18 months of people with leukaemia and cancer, and it is 

absolutely terrifying what we are actually looking at. 

 

 As I said – the other thing is that I do not know why there does not 

seem to be – I have got this one here which is the cow study which was 20 

number 1, which was the cow study.  The cow study, it was a German 

cow study, it came to us too late to put into the Environment Court.  

The effects that those cows had were exactly the same as mine except 

ours were worse. 

 25 

 And the vet I actually had who came out, she was a locum from 

Canada, she told me that the effects on the cows were exactly the same 

as they had found under powerlines in Canada. 

 

  [5.20 pm] 30 

 

 When I was looking after the cows, because I was not over there all the 

time but I was over there looking after them when they were sick, I was 

coming back one day carrying a metal bucket in my hand and it was 

suddenly like someone had struck me the most enormous blow on my 35 

leg.  I could not move it, I dragged it back to the car. 

 

 I did not know what was wrong with me, I went to the doctor the next 

day, they did blood tests and all my blood had changed, that it was not 

clotting properly.  Now after that we actually found out that anything 40 

where you have got metal interacting with the FM is when you have 

got a problem, and Martin had actually monitored it on my farm and 

said that the readings were all very low and there was no problem. 

 

 We went to the Environment Court, I was one of the witnesses and the 45 

Judge chose to actually take Dr Hocking, Professor Abelen (ph 00.40) 
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and Ms Sweet’s (ph 00.49) research evidence which showed the people 

that were exposed, their health increased or decreased in 

correspondence with the increase or decrease in exposure.  Judge 

Skelton reduced the FM and put very strict conditions of consent that 

we were not going to be harmed. 5 

 

 Well I went back to my farm and I thought “great I can go home 

again”, anyway when I got back I found I had this huge problems 

again, not myself, so I thought “oh well it must just because I was 

exposed for a long time maybe I have just got the sensitivity” and if I 10 

sell the farm it would be all right, someone else can do it but I have to 

find out if it is safe, so I rented it and I told them “if you are not well 

you are to move out”, and it is documented in the back of six that the 

people who moved in then started getting problems, and the animals 

started getting the lymph problems around the buildings, the same as 15 

what I had actually had. 

 

 There seems to be a very big pattern picture, it did not stop once they 

took one FM off, it was still too strong, it was still causing problems 

with different people at my farm.  I have gone, I was not there, and then 20 

after that the man came in and rented it for barley, he is now dead with 

leukaemia, and the man next door he has got a brain tumour, my 

daughter has got a brain tumour.  Last year I had a major operation, I 

was in hospital for six weeks and I have still got ongoing bowel cancer 

problems. 25 

 

 Now what actually happens is I have got a zip in my trousers, I was 

next to the radio tower next to the buildings you had all the reflections 

from the corrugated iron buildings, as well as the zips focusing it in 

where you have got liquid in your bowel or your bladder, so wherever 30 

you have got liquid it becomes more conductive, so Martin, I did not, 

we believed it was all quite safe. 

 

 We did not know what was going on and then I went to the council to 

look up something to do with looking for some consents to do with 35 

what was happening at the farm to find out whether they had more 

power on I actually found Martin Gledhill’s 1999 readings which were 

actually done, I think they are under six in the bundle of documents and 

we had been told that the frequency reduced at the boundary.   

 40 

 The readings that I actually found hidden in there in the archives, they 

have never been given to us and they actually showed that the 

frequency with the peak of wave increased at 300 metres, increased 

higher at 800 metres, which was my corrugated iron buildings, and it 

was much higher at two kilometres which is right next door to where 45 
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Marina’s family had all become so ill and where we have now got these 

clumps of dead trees at Stewart Reserve. 

 

 I actually asked Martin where he had monitored specifically for the two 

kilometre, because if you look at it he has not actually monitored it at 5 

the peak of the wave, it is sort of cut off and the research, we have 

actually got from that, but that happened now which is exactly the same 

as the Ouruhia radio tower and that is combined FM/AM from the site, 

it says the effects, cluster illnesses the research has found cluster 

related to the Vatican tower between six and 12 kilometres. 10 

 

 To me this is absolutely terrifying because we have got the Ouruhia 

tower beaming straight into Christchurch to six to 12 kilometres, then 

we have got all these huge increase in cell phone towers in 

Christchurch because the radio tower at Ouruhia coming in very low 15 

and very powerfully interferes with cell phone tower reception, so we 

have to have hundreds more cell phone towers, so the combination of 

effects is really quite strong, and what I have actually put into the 

bundle of documents if you look at number one, the hidden dangers 

document and go to the last page, it has got one page taken out of it 20 

which is actually done in Wellington, and that was taken out in the 

Ministry’s 1999 document, and they did monitoring there and one of 

the things they came up with was the reason they had higher 

monitoring at Wadestown was because of the interaction of Mount Kau 

Kau with the cell phone towers there's. 25 

 

 Now that actually shows that if you have a lot of different frequencies 

interacting you are going to get more exposure, so here are these people 

in Wadestown in the cell phone tower at Wadestown.  Now they 

monitor at the base of the tower, they don’t monitor where the beam 30 

actually is the most powerful, but immediately out from the tower.  

 

  [5.25 pm] 

 

 So if you are in a two-storied house or you are in an office immediately 35 

opposite a microwave in that room you have actually got a combination 

of – maybe in an office you have got computers, you have got cell 

phones, you have got electric lights, you got electronic stuff, as well as 

this coming through the window.  In Wadestown, not only have they 

got the cell phone power coming through the window, they have got 40 

(INDISTINCT 00.39) as well. 

 

 And this is what we are looking at in Christchurch, because of the high 

frequency coming in from Ouruhia, very unusual, as Dr Kerdemelidis 

actually told you, it is normally up on top of a hill.   45 
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 So we have got a multiplication of factors, and perhaps what terrifies 

me for Christchurch, we have got problems – Christchurch has got the 

highest incident of suicide in New Zealand, if you look at one of the 

samples that I have put in, there is increased depression in New 

Zealand.  I was actually working with someone whose daughter had 5 

committed suicide.  And he was helping the coroner, and he said look, 

can he pick up with her radiofrequency hearing all these cluster 

illnesses, which is all documented in the hidden dangers document.   

 

 And the coroner actually gave me a list of the people houses in 1998, 10 

which he probably shouldn’t have done, asked me to go to those houses 

to check whether my allergic reaction was stronger, and I came back 

and said – I mean you couldn’t get close to the houses, some of them of 

course, but there was a very, very high instant relationship with it.   

 15 

 And I also had contact with Stephanie Waterfield who ran Nurse 

Maude, and she said we cannot understand why there are certain areas 

in Christchurch that have increased cancer clusters.  She took the maps 

of the licenses that Denise had made, patterned it out with what her 

recordings were, and she said it is exactly the same place.  Now, that is 20 

terrifying.  When you actually look at the problems we have got in our 

area, it seemed to be further out it was actually even stronger.   

 

 So from the point of view of New Zealand, we have actually got this 

fact that we are an agricultural dependent society and our bees and 25 

birds when the power was high at Ouruhia, before they rebuilt the 

tower and lifted the angles over my property there is no bee and no 

birds - - - 

 

SHJ:   Ms Grey, I have been very patient.  This is now a half hour summary of 30 

the evidence which we have read. 

 

MS HARGREAVES:   I am sorry, sir. 

 

MS GREY:   I am sorry. 35 

 

SJH:   Well I have asked once already.  

 

MS HARGREAVES:   Sorry, sir, you asked me one question about repeating 

the tower and I - - - 40 

 

SJH:   No, I did not ask a question, what I wanted was a summary, so can you 

bring it to a close, please? 

 

MS HARGREAVES:   I can stop, sir. 45 
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SJH:   All right.  Thank you. 

 

MS HARGREAVES:   I just want to say how very frightened I am for all of 

New Zealand if there is not more controls.  

 5 

SJH:   We fully understand that, and you said that a number of times, thank 

you.  Ms Huria, any questions? 

 

MS HURIA:   No, thank you, sir.   

 10 

SJH:   Mr Illingsworth? 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   No questions, thank you. 

 

SJH:   Ms Dawson? 15 

 

MS DAWSON:   No, thank you.  Thank you Ms Hargreaves.   

 

MS HARGREAVES:   Thank you. 

 20 

SJH:   Thank you Ms Hargreaves, you may stand down. 

 

MS HARGREAVES:   Thank you for being so patient, Sir John. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [5.38 pm] 25 

 

SJH:   Now, in relation to closings, could you file yours by close of business of 

Thursday of next week, Ms Grey? 

 

MS GREY:   I will try, sir, yes. 30 

 

SJH:   No, if you cannot you better tell me and explain why.  It is the normal 

time we give in these hearings. 

 

MS GREY:   Yes, sir, if it is possible by the close of Friday it would be better. 35 

 

SJH:   All right, close of business Friday.  Mr Winchester, a week later? 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Sir, yesterday when Judge Hassan was presiding over 

the matter we did talk about - - - 40 

 

SJH:   That is right, there were other matters involved in this.  I am just 

thinking of this portion of the hearing. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, sir. 45 
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SJH:   And I am just wondering if it would not be better if you filed separate 

submissions on this because of the recusal and such like.   

 

MR WINCHESTER:   It probably would, and so in that respect, and I will 

consult with - - - 5 

 

SJH:   Because I think there are some outstanding matters that - - - 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   There are some drafting matters in terms of the 

Proposal. 10 

 

SJH:   But it will be dealt with by - - - 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   And I suspect however that this aspect of the hearing 

will not impact on that exercise, so in terms of dealing with this 15 

discreetly we could certainly file closing submissions. 

 

SJH:   So that is close of business on the 11th and close of business on the 

18th? 

 20 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, sir. 

 

SJH:   It may be that, I imagine Judge Hassan has probably gone for the day 

now, so it may be that he will have to deal with those other matters by 

telephone conference or memorandum or minute next week. 25 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, certainly and what I can - - - 

 

SJH:   We will just check then. 

 30 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Anyway, that does not impact on you Ms Grey, close of business next 

Friday, and you and your clients may be excused if you wish to leave. 

 35 

MS GREY:   Thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   And Mr Mora, you have waited patiently, if you would like to come 

forward to the microphone and submit on behalf of your association.  It 

is a submission, so whichever one suits you best, Mr Mora. 40 
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<MR MORA [5.30 pm] 
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MR MORA:   Thank you very much.  Our community board submitted in 

stage 1 to do with the electromagnetic radiation with the pylon 

corridors and we also submitted of course in stage 2 on the operation of 

any utility that emits radio frequency fields. 

 5 

 My history on this goes back, sir, Panel, to the current District Plan 

Review which actually introduced setbacks from pylon corridors which 

is a really good thing.  We have got preschools just around in our 

neighbourhood directly under the pylons, it is very, very frightening.  I 

have worked in the past, when he was alive, with the very well 10 

respected Dr Neil Cherry.  I concur with the concerns from the Ouruhia 

residents and I have been following the history of that too, for a long 

time, sir. 

 

 One of the things that when Dr Neil Cherry and I were working 15 

together was that we found that the New Zealand standards were very, 

very loose compared to other parts of the world, but the problem that 

we had at that time was we could not get an expert in New Zealand that 

was not already working for or contracted to companies that were 

involved in that field supporting the standards that were set at that time.  20 

So why we have submitted through this process is to support any 

standards that exposure levels do not exceed what is considered to be 

safe for the general public, so that is really the nub of it and I believe 

that we do need to really, really screw down the levels and the control 

of those levels so that the public can feel safe and be guaranteed of 25 

safety to the best of their ability around these electromagnetic fields. 

 

SJH:   Just so I am clear, and this is partly your hearing, isn’t it?  It overlaps, 

that is the problem.  With the setbacks from the pylon corridors, and 

the application of the New Zealand Standards, are you content for that 30 

to be how the provisions are drafted? 

 

MR MORA:   As far as the pylon corridors, sir, I am. 

 

SJH:   And anything else?  Do you have other concerns in your area, for 35 

example? 

 

MR MORA:   Not in our area but we did pick up on the operation of any utility 

that emits radio frequency fields, and yes, there is actually, there is a 

big transmitter at the Islington Substation, sir.  A communications 40 

transmission tower there, that is just over my back fence.  But anyway, 

I live in that area, I bought in that area and I understand the risks 

involved in it but since I have lived in the area that I am, there are more 

and more telecommunications companies that are coming along and 

hooking into the massive town now that is on the Islington Substation 45 

site, sir, that is not part of the distribution network for electricity.   
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SJH:   I understand what you are saying but I am not sure where it leaves us in 

terms of the provisions and the application of the New Zealand 

standards for the area you represent. 

 5 

MR MORA:   The standards that we represent in the area that we represent; we 

do not want any slackness around the protection that we can get by 

distances living and working around those areas. 

 

SJH:   So the setbacks around the pylon corridors, the standards, and the strict 10 

enforcement of the standards? 

 

MR MORA:   Absolutely. 

 

SJH:   Which the enforcement, of course, is not a matter for us as you will 15 

appreciate.  We always expect things to be in force but that does not 

always happen, does it? 

 

MR MORA:   My history with enforcement is that it is severely lacking.  But, 

anyway, that is something that I have been battling for, for years is to 20 

try and get conditions of resource consents actually enforced and I will 

continue to do that. 

 

SJH:   All right.  Is there anything else you wish to add, Mr Mora? 

 25 

MR MORA:   No. 

 

SJH:   All right, thank you very, and thank you for your patience. 

 

MR MORA:   It is nearly beer o’clock, sir. 30 

 

  [5.35 pm] 

 

SJH:   It is indeed. 

 35 

<MR MORA WITHDREW [5.35 pm] 

 

ADJOURNED [5.35 pm] 

 

RESUMED [5.35 pm] 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right, good evening everyone, we will just – yes, you will 

see I have dressed rather casually, it is because I forgot I was going to 

do this – this is just to round out the close of the hearing, Mr Leslie, we 

were just going to talk in terms of the timetable for the close out. 45 
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MR LESLIE:   Certainly, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So a staged exchange is what I would suggest, as we had 

done with other hearings such as subdivision stage 2 and that sort of 

thing, so directions along the lines of the first step in that process being 5 

for the Council to lodge a refreshed and updated set of provisions. 

Secondly for the parties to lodge their closings by a certain date and 

finally for the Council’s closings, is that how see it? 

 

MR LESLIE:   Yes, sir, and we have had the opportunity to discuss something 10 

along those lines with the Crown, but unfortunately not with - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR LESLIE:   - - - counsel for any of the other parties, that are interested in 15 

this. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay.  Well I do not want to put issue on you now.  What 

I would suggest we do, is now adjourn the hearing, subject to a 

direction that the Council will confer with parties and shall we say by – 20 

would Tuesday be sufficient? 

 

MR LESLIE:   In order to confirm the timetable, sir? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 25 

 

MR LESLIE:   I am sure that will be fine, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay. So the direction is that the hearing is adjourn 

subject to a direction that the Council will file by 5.00 pm on Tuesday 30 

next week – whatever date that is – a timetable for stepped exchange 

for a revised proposal, parties closings and Council closings and further 

directions will issue by a minute following receipt of that. 

 

MR LESLIE:   Thank you, sir. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 

MS……….:   Thank you, sir. 

 40 

MATTER ADJOURNED 5.37 PM ACCORDINGLY 


